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Dear Ministers

I am pleased to submit for presentation to the Parliament, the Annual Report 2019-20 and financial statements for the Queensland 
Bulk Water Supply Authority, trading as Seqwater. 

I certify that this Annual Report complies with:

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Financial Performance Management Standard 
2009, and

• the detailed requirements contained in the Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements is provided at page 96 of this report.

Yours sincerely

The Honourable Dr David Hamill AM

Chairman

The Honourable Dr Anthony Lynham MP

Minister for Natural Resources, Mines and Energy

PO Box 15216

CITY EAST  QLD  4002

The Honourable Cameron Dick MP

Treasurer, Minister for Infrastructure and Planning

PO Box 15185

CITY EAST  QLD  4002
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About this report
This annual report records Seqwater’s achievements in  
2019-20. Performance is measured against the objectives 
and targets established in the Strategic Plan 2019-23 and 
Operational Plan 2019-20 and details financial performance  
for the year.

The report has been produced in accordance with the 
standards detailed in the following Queensland legislation and 
Government guidelines:

• Financial Accountability Act 2009

• Financial Performance Management Standard 2019

• South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007

• Annual report requirements for Queensland Government 
agencies (2019-20 reporting period).

The report is available on Seqwater’s website at  
https://www.seqwater.com.au/corporate-publications 

Seqwater Annual Report 2019-20

ISSN: 1837-4549

© Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 2020.

Translation and interpreting 
assistance

Seqwater is committed to providing 
accessible services to people from all 
culturally and linguistically diverse 
backgrounds. 

If you have difficulty understanding this annual report, please 
contact Seqwater to arrange an interpreter to share the report 
with you.

Your feedback is welcome

We invite your thoughts on this report. Please contact 
Communication, Engagement and Education:

• Telephone 1300 737 928 

• Email communications@seqwater.com.au

Acknowledging the First Australians

We respectfully acknowledge the Traditional Owners of the 
land, catchments and waterways on which we work, and pay 
our respects to Elders past, present and emerging.

111 
Interpreter 
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About Seqwater
Seqwater delivers a safe, secure, and cost-effective bulk 
water supply for over three million people across South East 
Queensland (SEQ). It provides irrigation water, as well as flood 
mitigation services, catchment management and recreation 
facilities. 

On behalf of its communities, Seqwater manages and 
maintains water supply assets, including dams, weirs, 
conventional water treatment plants, reservoirs, pumps and 
pipelines, as well as climate resilient water sources, such as 
the Gold Coast Desalination Plant and the Western Corridor 
Recycled Water Scheme. Its operations extend from the New 
South Wales border to the base of the Toowoomba ranges and 
north to Gympie.

It owns and operates the SEQ Water Grid, a 600 kilometre two-
way pipeline network that enables treated drinking water to be 
moved around the region. 

Seqwater supplies bulk treated drinking water to five 
retailer customers, Unitywater, Urban Utilities and the water 
businesses of the Logan, Redland and Gold Coast councils. 
These retailers in turn deliver drinking water to consumers 
through their distribution networks. Seqwater works with 
its retailer customers to achieve the best whole-of-system 
solutions. 

In addition to urban bulk water supply, Seqwater supplies 
irrigation water to about 1,200 farmers and growers through 
seven schemes. Seqwater also has arrangements in place to 
supply water to Toowoomba and Gympie regional councils and 
power stations operated by Stanwell Corporation and CleanCo. 

Seqwater provides access to diverse recreation opportunities 
on Seqwater’s land and water storages.

Seqwater is a statutory authority established by the 
Queensland Government under the South East Queensland 
Water (Restructuring) Act 2007 and is a statutory body for 
the purposes of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the 
Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982.

It contributes to advancing the Queensland Government 
objectives for the community through:

• investing in water infrastructure to support a strong 
economy and ensure water now and for future generations

• protecting SEQ drinking water supply catchments 
and collaborating with government, industry and SEQ 
communities to improve catchment health

• involving the people who live and work in the region in 
planning to shape a shared water future 

• engaging with stakeholders, customers and communities 
to understand their needs and expectations

• contributing to the SEQ Regional Plan.
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Looking ahead
Seqwater strives to be respected as a leading water authority, 
in line with our vision of Water for Life. Seqwater faces a 
range of risks, challenges and opportunities in planning for and 
delivering a regional water supply for the future, key are: 

• a growing population

• weather extremes and climate change

• providing value for its customers

• financial sustainability

• delivery of a significant capital program.

In response to these challenges, Seqwater set its strategy to be 
ready and able to provide safe, affordable and reliable 
bulk water for four million South East Queenslanders by 
2027-28. 

Seqwater has identified five strategic objectives towards this 
outcome:

• improve stakeholder, customer and community satisfaction 
and support

• increase water supply certainty

• strengthen financial sustainability

• improve processes, systems and planning

• improve safety and organisational culture.

These objectives form the core of Seqwater’s strategy and will 
guide its future strategic direction.
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Foreword from our 
Chairman and CEO

Mr Neil Brennan 
Seqwater CEO

The Hon Dr David Hamill AM 
Chairman

The 2019-20 year will be remembered for the COVID-19 
pandemic and the unprecedented bush fire season which 
preceded it.

Throughout spring 2019, Seqwater was at the frontline 
protecting critical water infrastructure from extreme fire 
conditions and working alongside the Queensland Fire and 
Emergency Services to protect life and property in the Scenic 
Rim, Gold Coast and Sunshine Coast. 

COVID-19 challenged the business, as it did the nation and 
State, as never before. Seqwater focused on protecting its 
workforce while maintaining services and the safety of assets. 

Site access restrictions and strict hygiene practices were 
implemented on all operational sites to protect frontline, 
operational staff. More than 65% of Seqwater’s workforce 
operated from home and Seqwater worked closely with its 
suppliers to ensure chemicals and other key inputs from around 
Australia were secured throughout the pandemic. As a result, 
Seqwater's workforce was kept safe and bulk water supply 
was maintained across the region. Flood mitigation and dam 
safety monitoring programs continued. Seqwater worked 
with key contractors to ensure critical infrastructure projects 
continued under COVID-19 safe guidelines.

This included the ongoing Dam Improvement Program across 
the region. Design and options work continued for a significant 
upgrade to Somerset Dam. The Ewen Maddock Dam upgrade 
on the Sunshine Coast began and funding approval for the Lake 
Macdonald Dam upgrade was received. 

To increase water security for the Scenic Rim, two storage 
tanks were constructed at the Beaudesert Water Treatment 
Plant. In addition, funding was approved for the South West 
Pipeline which will connect Beaudesert to the SEQ Water Grid 
with construction works to begin in 2021. 

Seqwater continued to significantly invest in vegetation and 
erosion repair works to improve the health of the drinking 
water catchment, with more than 55% of these works  
delivered by catchment partners across the region.

Seqwater's education program, H2O Kids, was the first 
education program to be taken online by a water authority 
in response to COVID-19. It is now embedded within the 
Queensland education curriculum. The community engagement 
program to support the development of the region’s long-term 
water security program and dam upgrades also went online.

In November 2019, the SEQ Water Grid storage levels fell 
to 60% capacity triggering the region’s drought response for 
the first time since the Millennium Drought. The Gold Coast 
Desalination Plant increased production and a region-wide 
water conservation campaign was implemented with the 
support of Seqwater’s retailer customers. In consultation with 
Queensland Government, Seqwater decided to defer the restart 
of the Western Corridor Recycled Water Scheme until after 
summer, allowing for inflows to occur that could defer the 
restart costs. Rainfall received over February 2020 added more 
than 10% to the SEQ Water Grid with combined storage levels 
above 60% full. Storage levels continued to fall after summer, 
and SEQ remained on drought watch.

Together with its retailer customers, Seqwater managed the 
response to drought conditions impacting many of the off-grid 
communities across SEQ, particularly in the Scenic Rim where 
water supply was hardest hit. 

Seqwater restructured its business in late 2019 to improve 
capital delivery capability, and better respond to the key 
challenges for providing bulk water services into the future.

Our thanks and gratitude go to Seqwater employees for their 
support, resilience, flexibility and dedication through the most 
difficult of times.
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In 2019-20 Seqwater supplied 330,774 ML of  
treated water to retailer customers; approximately 
60,000 ML to 1,200 irrigator customers; and 
approximately 22,600 ML of raw water mostly to 
Toowoomba Regional Council and the Tarong Power 
Station. Seqwater also supplied 738 ML of purified 
recycled water for Swanbank Power Station.

This year approximately 2.3 million people visited 
recreation facilities at Seqwater’s dams and lakes. 

Bushfire response
Seqwater was involved in the response to the September 
2019 bushfires, protecting critical water infrastructure and 
supporting Queensland Fire and Emergency Services to protect 
life and property in the Scenic Rim, Gold Coast and Sunshine 
Coast.

Seqwater assisted with bushfire suppression and containment 
strategies in association with the Multi-Agency Taskforce 
in fire-threatened areas including Binna Burra, Beechmont, 
Atkinson Dam and Esk.

Seqwater ensured water supply remained accessible to 
Queensland Fire and Emergency Service ground and air support 
fire crews.

Drought response
A drought simulation workshop was held in August 2019 
with Seqwater’s retailer customers and State Government 
representatives as dam levels approached the 60% drought 
response trigger. A second workshop was held in February 2020 
with a focus on coordinating actions required when the SEQ 
Water Grid storage level falls below 50%.

The region’s drought response was triggered in November 
2019 when the SEQ Water Grid storage level fell to 60%. 
The response included increasing production of the Gold 

Coast Desalination Plant; a region-wide water conservation 
campaign; and operating the SEQ Water Grid to preserve the 
region’s key central storages, Wivenhoe and Somerset dams. 

In February 2020 rainfall added more than 10% to the SEQ 
Water Grid storage levels, however SEQ remained in the 
drought readiness phase in June 2020 with the SEQ Water Grid 
storage level at 63.7%.

In May 2020 Seqwater launched a social media campaign 
focusing on weekly updates on dam storage levels and water 
use as well as promoting waterwise hints and tips.  

COVID-19 response 
Seqwater developed and implemented business resilience 
plans to manage the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
Seqwater’s operations. Seqwater’s response to the pandemic 
focused on four key objectives:

• protect the health and wellbeing of its workforce

• maintain the bulk supply of drinking water in SEQ and
other supplies to Toowoomba Regional Council and power
station customers

• maintain monitoring and other activities related to dam
safety

• maintain capacity to perform flood mitigation services,
including operation of gated dams.

On 17 March 2020 over 65% of Seqwater employees 
commenced working from home and site-based protocols 
were established to protect the health and wellbeing of its 
workforce. 

Seqwater implemented initiatives to support employee health 
and wellbeing and to optimise workforce availability during the 
pandemic.

Delivering core  
services to SEQ
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To help mitigate the spread of COVID-19, community events 
were cancelled and on 26 March 2020 recreation areas 
at Seqwater managed lakes and parks were closed. This 
included all land and water-based recreation. In line with the 
Queensland Government’s easing of restrictions, recreation 
sites commenced phased reopening on 2 May 2020 and 
recreation facilities were completely reopened on 13 June 
2020 while ensuring public safety through increased frequency 
of cleaning, additional patrols and signage at recreation sites.

Seqwater met its four key objectives throughout the pandemic 
to June 2020 and will continue to focus on those objectives 
while the COVID-19 threat remains. Seqwater is planning to 
transition employees back to the workplace while adhering to 
social distancing requirements and following the latest public 
health advice.

No performance bonuses were paid for 2019-20 in line with the 
Queensland Government guidelines.



Key performance indicators 
Movements in performance measures related to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Balance Sheet are the result  
of additional demand driven revenues resulting from the hotter and drier conditions experienced to February 2020, reductions  
in interest rates over the period and annual asset revaluations. These conditions have resulted in a Net Profit After Tax (NPAT) of 
$37.1 million against an original budget of $4.5 million, and related movements in total assets and associated indicators.

Financial performance

KPI Budget Actual
Operating revenue $000 1,015,830 1,045,322

Operating expenditure $000 273,547 293,960

EBITDA $000 742,283 751,362

EBIT $000 479,786 486,255

NPAT $000 4,526 37,098

EBITDA margin 73.1% 71.9%

Total assets $000 11,634,792 11,721,213

Capital expenditure $000 166,347 143,570

Gearing ratio (Debt to [debt + equity ratio]) 0.85 0.84

FFO interest coverage 1.01 1.04

Capital replenishment ratio 0.63 0.54

Operating expenditure ratio 26.9% 28.1%

Seqwater achieved its targets for safety, environment, drinking water compliance and dam safety inspections.  Actual water 
production relating to drinking water supplies to retailer customers was within the target range of +/- 5% of forecast.

Non-financial performance

KPI Target Actual
Forecast water production (ML) (excluding power stations)1 320,877 330,774

Lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR) < 3.5 3.0

Statutory notifications for environmental harm 0 0

Zones compliant with Australian Drinking Water Guidelines 100% 100%

Dam safety inspection program - legislative compliance 100% 100%

1 These figures represent the service providers demand only.

Performance
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Seqwater’s undertakings are established in the 
Operational Plan 2019-20. Progress against its 
undertakings is set out below.

Our stakeholders, customers 
and communities
Community engagement

Seqwater completed a 12 month engagement exploring the 
region’s water future which involved deliberative community 
forums in each of the region’s 11 local government areas. 
These forums gathered valuable insights into community water 
attitudes on a range of topics from drought to future sources. 

Seqwater engaged with impacted communities on water 
infrastructure projects including the Ewen Maddock Dam 
upgrade, which involves a lake lowering exercise and 
recreation closures. Early engagement and communication 
around the impacts has helped the community to understand  
the project need, and what neighbours and the local community 
should expect. Online information and an event at the Ewen 
Maddock Wetlands in November 2019 provided the community 
with the opportunity to speak with the project team about the 
Ewen Maddock Dam upgrade and the lowering of the dam in 
preparation for the upgrade. 

Seqwater established a Somerset Dam upgrade Community 
Reference Group made up of residents, business owners, 
recreation users and a Council representative to partner in the 
development of a voluntary Social Impact Management Plan. 
Seqwater hosted public tours of the Somerset Dam wall in 
August 2019, where more than 400 visitors learned more about 
the upgrade plans. 

Education

Following the successful launch of H2O Kids in 2018-19, more 
than 26,000 SEQ students, teachers and parents learned 
more about water literacy in 2019-20. Water literacy refers 
to knowledge about water sources, water management and 
water-related issues. 

H2O Kids takes students through the water story and features 
a suite of experiences and resources for teachers and students 
from Prep to Year 12. The program inspires students through 
storytelling and inquiry-based learning through incursions and 
excursions.

Incursions and excursions were cancelled in March 2020 
as part of Seqwater’s COVID-19 response. H2O Kids moved 
online in May 2020, with videos and downloadable resources 
available via the Seqwater website to support distance 
learning and allow water education to continue. Seqwater was 
the only water authority in Australia to deliver its education 
in this manner. More than 2,000 people had accessed these 
resources by the end of June 2020.

Working with customers

Seqwater has been working in close partnership with its 
retailer customers to achieve improved outcomes. The main 
focus for the year was ensuring a coordinated and effective 
drought response program. Other achievements in 2019-20 
include:

• finalised refreshed water quality service standards
with Unitywater and further progression of standard
development with Urban Utilities and Logan Water

• working closely with Unitywater and Sunshine Coast
Council to explore opportunities for stormwater harvesting
in one of SEQ’s fastest growing regions

• Seqwater’s retailer customers endorsed the Metering
and Billing Assurance Framework, an important step in
improving controls over bulk water metering and billing
and providing transparency and confidence to customers.

Undertakings
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The SEQ Water Service Providers Partnership includes 
Seqwater along with its retailer customers. Key achievements 
of the Partnership in 2019-20 include:

• collaboration to ensure continued water and sewerage
services to SEQ communities through any escalation of
COVID-19 restrictions or impacts

• the ongoing development of the first joint SEQ Water Plan
incorporating future water and sewage works

• a joint approach to water innovation with the Partnership
joining Waterstart Australia to pilot new technology
solutions for the water and sewage sector.

Catchment health and source water quality 
improvements

In 2019-20, Seqwater invested approximately $8.8 million 
in catchment management, with $4.9 million allocated to 
partnership projects.

Partnership projects included riparian weed control and 
revegetation work, landslip remediation and bank stabilisation, 
onsite wastewater system upgrades and other on-farm 
improvements. 

Large bank stabilisation and planting projects in the Pine, 
Stanley and Brisbane river catchments, a contaminated land 
project in the Upper Brisbane River catchment and various 
offset projects were also delivered by Seqwater.

Water Security Program

The Water Security Program is Seqwater’s plan to provide SEQ 
with safe and reliable drinking water over the next 30 years. 

This year Seqwater commenced the development of Seqwater’s 
Water Security Program, version 3, which is due in 2022. This 
next version of the program is being developed in partnership 
with Seqwater’s retailer customers, incorporating insights from 
community engagement. 

Our processes
Enterprise resource planning capability

Effective enterprise systems and processes are a key enabler in 
meeting Seqwater’s strategic objectives. This year, Seqwater's 
Connect the Dots program – the strategic initiative to upgrade 
enterprise resource planning capability – successfully: 

• established its target future state for enterprise systems
and processes

• catalogued business processes

• developed a capability framework

• identified opportunities for improvement and prioritised
initiatives for implementation

• developed a digital vision that will enhance people,
processes and systems.

Implementation commenced with core system upgrades in 
technology and information management. Strategic system 
improvements are being developed in contractor management, 
asset data management, capital program reporting and 
procurement management.

Business resilience

Each year Seqwater plans and prepares to respond to a range 
of events. An annual program including document review, 
training and simulation exercises is undertaken to optimise 
resilience, preparedness and drive continuous improvement.

In 2019-20 Seqwater completed the following preparedness 
activities:

• biennial review of the Bulk Authority Emergency Response
Plan

• annual review of the Seqwater Emergency Management
Manual
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• prepared the annual Statement of Flood Preparedness for
primary flood mitigation dams

• trained selected incident controllers and emergency
management team members

• flood scenarios

• reviewed and updated of the flood mitigation manuals for
Wivenhoe, Somerset and North Pine dams

• SEQ water supply system emergency response exercise.

Seqwater enhanced its business resilience through the 
development of a Pandemic Plan, a COVID-19 Plan and 
completed a review of its Business Continuity Plan.

Our people and capability
Safety, culture and leadership

Implementation of Seqwater’s leadership program, The Way 
We Lead, was a key initiative during the year with leaders 
challenged to think differently in areas such as leading self, 
leading others and change management. The learnings 
from this program were further embedded through biannual 
leadership forums.

Seqwater’s Safe for Life program continued during the year 
with employees empowered to identify and deliver initiatives 
to improve management of health and safety risks, build 
mental health awareness and continue to embed and develop a 
strong safety culture. 

During the year, all employees participated in a safety 
leadership development program creating a shared personal 
understanding of why the management of safety is important 
and how to ‘Switch On’ to hazards which may cause injury. To 
support this and improve risk management, a new process was 
developed and implemented that helps workers to identify and 
mitigate hazards associated with performing a task.

This year also saw an increased focus on wellbeing and mental 
health including the establishment of a Mental Health First 
Aid Officer Network; delivery of online training and leader led 
discussions to increase mental health awareness.

An independent review into Seqwater’s progress towards 
improving the safety culture and performance reported 
significant improvements in key safety metrics with a 44% 
reduction in the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate over 22 
months, and a 64% reduction in High Potential Incident 
Frequency Rate in 16 months.

Seqwater’s safety culture index score increased by 2.7 from 
63.2 in July 2018 to 65.9 in March 2020, maintaining a 
'sustainable' safety culture maturity assessment.

Seqwater’s response to COVID-19 also reinforced its 
commitment to the health, safety and wellbeing of its 
workforce with initiatives introduced including remote working, 
specialised health advice and access to leave provisions.

Our finances 
As the bulk water supplier for SEQ, 97% of revenue is derived 
from bulk water sales, with Seqwater financially reliant on bulk 
water pricing for the recovery of prudent and efficient operating 
and capital investment expenditure.

Seqwater manages $11.2 billion of water supply assets and 
is financially leveraged at 84%, with funds from operations 
currently meeting debt servicing requirements. The current 
financial performance and highly leveraged position require the 
Board to rely on the Queensland Government’s commitment to 
ensuring the solvency and ongoing viability of the entity. 

Year on year financial performance continues to improve 
through the structured price increases set with reference to 
the price path and the ongoing commitment to prudent and 
efficient management of Seqwater’s resources.
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Capital investment in water supply assets is increasing 
with $1.4 billion budgeted for investment over the next five 
years. Significant projects being undertaken through the Dam 
Improvement Program and other critical water supply projects 
are driving capital investment and require continued funding 
options analysis and risk based prioritisation of Seqwater’s 
asset investment program.

Year on year financial performance 
measures

2019-20 
Actual ($000)

2018-19  
Actual ($000)

Earnings before interest 
and tax 486,255 463,910

Net profit after tax 37,098 (32,949) 

FFO interest coverage 1.04 0.91

Debt to debt plus equity 0.84 0.85

Capital investment 143,570 145,403

Bulk water price path review

Bulk water prices are currently determined to 30 June 2021. 
Seqwater commenced planning for the next bulk water price 
path review and submission to the Queensland Competition 
Authority. Planning and preparation for the review included 
workshops with the retailer customers to discuss pricing 
policy issues with a view to putting together information 
for government consideration as the next review period 
approaches.

Capital program 

Seqwater continued to increase capital investment in 2019-20 
with a total of $143.6 million invested in water supply assets. 

Program highlights in 2019-20 include:

• the South West Pipeline and Lake Macdonald Dam
upgrade received responsible Minister investment
approval

• the South West Pipeline and Lake Macdonald Dam
upgrade tender processes commenced

• the preliminary business case for the Somerset Dam
upgrade was approved by the Seqwater Board; and
development of the detailed business case commenced

• Buderim’s Hall Contracting commenced work in April 2020
on the $24.5 million Ewen Maddock Dam upgrade

• work continued on the Alexandra Hills Reservoirs with a
total value of $5.2 million across the five reservoirs

• preparation works commenced in November 2019 on the
Mount Crosby East Bank Water Treatment Plant Filtration
upgrade. This staged project will refurbish and upgrade
the 20 filters to ensure supply requirements are achieved,
while meeting drinking water quality guidelines. The total
project value is approximately $34.9 million. It is expected
that rehabilitation methods will increase the useful life of
the infrastructure by 50 years.



Essential Water | Seqwater Annual Report 2019–2014

Governance

Organisational structure
Seqwater restructured in 2019-20 to better respond to the key 
challenges for service delivery into the future, including a group 
solely focused on delivering major infrastructure projects, 
bringing asset planning, project delivery and operations under 
a Chief Operating Officer and establishing a Digital, Technology 
and Information group. 

RESPONSIBLE MINISTERS

Chief Executive Officer
Neil Brennan

Audit and Risk 
Committee

People and Culture 
Committee

Investment and Procurement 
Committee

SEQWATER BOARD

General Manager 
Digital, Technology 

and Information
Bruce Linaker

General Manager 
People, Culture 

and Safety
Melissa Williams

General Manager 
Corporate Services

Lee Bruce

Company Secretary 
and General Counsel

Will Harpham

General Manager 
Major Projects

Barbara van Heerden

General Manager 
Customer, Strategy 

and Planning
Ross Muir

• Strategy, Research 
and Performance

• Water Security 
Direction

• Water Security 
Performance

• Communication, 
Education and 
Engagement

• Sustainability
• Strategic Campaigns 

and Engagement
• Commercial and 

Customer Direction

• Operational 
Technology and 
Energy

• Information and 
Communications 
Technology

• Board and Committee 
Secretariat

• Board and CEO 
Legal Advisor

• Controlled 
Documents

• Privacy and Ethics
• PID Coordination
• Fraud and Corruption 

Control
• Internal Audit
• Insurance
• Corporate 

Governance

• Financial Services 
and Compliance

• Budget, Strategy and 
Performance

• Commercial Services
• Property, Fleet and 

Facilities
• Legal Counsel

• Program Portfolio and 
Assurance

• Project 
Development

• Project Delivery
• Community and 

Engagement
• Technical and 

Engineering
• Finance, Controls and 

Risk
• Commercial and 

Contracts

• HR Business 
Partnering

• HR Operations
• Organisational 

Development
• Health, Safety and 

Wellbeing

Chief Operating 
Officer

Stuart Cassie

• Northern, Central and 
Southern Operations

• Asset Maintenance 
Services

• Technical Support 
and Improvement

• Operational Support 
and Improvement

• Sustaining Capital
• Asset, Strategy and 

Planning

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Executive 
The Executive provides leadership and direction to the 
workforce and drives the achievement of Seqwater’s strategic 
priorities and regulatory obligations. As at 30 June 2020, the 
Executive comprised:

Neil Brennan  
Chief Executive Officer

Neil joined Seqwater in August 2018 with a 32 year history 
in the Victorian water industry, most recently as Managing 
Director of Western Water. 

He was also the Interim Managing Director of Goulburn Murray 
Water, Managing Director at Central Highlands Water and 
held various Ministerial appointments to industry committees 
including Director of the Board of the Energy and Water 
Ombudsman Scheme Victoria, Executive Council Member of the 
Institute of Water Administration, and Chair of the Victorian 
water industry's Intelligent Water Networks Steering Group. 

Neil holds a Graduate Diploma in Management, a Master of 
Business Leadership and has completed the Oxford Advanced 
Management Programme.

Will Harpham 
Company Secretary and General Counsel

Will has 20 years of experience advising corporate and 
government entities across a variety of areas including major 
projects, transport and logistics, corporate governance, 
insurance, infrastructure and water supply. 

Prior to his current role, Will held management roles at 
LinkWater and Seqwater.

Stuart Cassie 
Chief Operating Officer

Stuart has over 20 years leadership experience in complex 
infrastructure assets, holding senior global operational roles in 
Tier 1 engineering and professional services organisations. 

He has acted as a consultant providing delivery and advisory 
services to assist large, complex infrastructure owners and 
developers evaluate, manage and deliver major capital projects 
and portfolios of sustaining capital projects for ongoing 
operations. 

Stuart has been an advisor to executives across sectors and 
jurisdictions including government infrastructure, energy and 
resources, oil and gas, and utilities in Australia, Europe, Africa, 
Middle East and North America.

Ross Muir 
General Manager, Customer, Strategy and 
Planning

Ross has more than 25 years of experience in the water sector, 
specialising in commercial and regulatory aspects of water 
supply. 

Ross’s previous role was Seqwater General Manager,  
Water Services. Before joining Seqwater, Ross was a 
consultant for more than 10 years advising private sector  
and government clients in the Australian water sector on price 
regulation, infrastructure investments, institutional reform  
and water policy.

Melissa Williams 
General Manager, People, Culture and Safety

Melissa has extensive human resources, customer and 
operations expertise with more than 20 years of experience 
working in the private, not for profit and public sectors. She 
has held senior roles in a diverse range of industries including 
energy, transportation, education and health/aged care. 
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Barbara van Heerden 
General Manager, Major Projects

Barbara has extensive experience in all aspects of planning 
and delivery of major projects, governance and assurance. 
Prior to joining Seqwater, Barbara was the Regional Director 
for the Queensland Department of Transport and Main Roads, 
responsible for leading the strategic direction of the North 
Coast and Wide Bay Burnett Region. Barbara has worked in 
various private sector and local government roles in South 
Africa, Namibia, the United States of America and the United 
Kingdom. Barbara has a Master’s degree in Civil Engineering 
and is a registered professional engineer.

Lee Bruce 
General Manager, Corporate Services

Lee has held executive and senior leadership roles and has 
extensive experience in managing diverse professional services 
including strategy, investment, finance, analytics, legal, ICT, 
projects, risk, quality, compliance, commercial services, sales 
and marketing, relationship and business management. Lee 
previously held the role of Chief Operating Officer for the 
European Capital Markets and Treasury Solutions Division at 
Deutsche Bank London before immigrating to Australia in 2013. 
Lee’s most recent role was Director of Corporate Services for 
the Translational Research Institute, Brisbane.

Bruce Linaker 
General Manager, Digital Technology 
Information

Bruce has held various executive-level and senior management 
roles supporting the successful delivery of technology 
programs. Recent roles include the Chief Executive Officer 
for eHealth Queensland and Chief Information Officer for 
Queensland Health, accountable for the delivery of in excess of 
$1 billion worth of digital transformation projects. Prior to this, 
Bruce was based out of Manila where he led multiple digital 
transformation teams located throughout the Asia Pacific. 

Seqwater Board
The Honourable Dr David Hamill (Chairman) 
Independent Board member (appointed 1 
October 2018)

The Honourable Dr Hamill is a professional non-executive 
company director with an extensive track record and Board 
experience. He is currently Chairman of the Seqwater Board, 
Chairman of Act for Kids, a Director of Brookfield Business 
Partners LP, Ebenezer Pastoral Pty Ltd, DBCT Management Pty 
Ltd, DBCT Investor Services Pty Ltd, DBCT Finance Pty Ltd and 
Auraway Pty Ltd. 

Among his former roles, Dr Hamill was Chairman of the 
Australian Red Cross Blood Service, Chairman of the Gladstone 
Airport Corporation, Chairman of the Queensland Museum, 
Director of Brookfield Infrastructure Partners LP and a member 
of the governing body (Senate) of the University of Queensland.

As the Member for Ipswich in the Queensland Parliament from 
1983-2001, Dr Hamill held the portfolios of Treasurer (1998-
2001), Minister for Education (1995-1996), and Minister for 
Transport and Minister Assisting the Premier on Economic and 
Trade Development (1989-1995).

A Rhodes Scholar, Dr Hamill is a graduate of both the 
University of Queensland (BA and PhD) and Oxford University 
(MA). He is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Transport, a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and in 
2009 he became a Member of the Order of Australia for service 
to the Parliament, the community and to business.

Mr Shane McGrath 
Independent Board member (appointed 18 
December 2014)

Mr McGrath is a civil engineer with more than 40 years of 
experience in the water industry. He has extensive experience 
in senior leadership roles for asset creation and management 
of water supply infrastructure, including major dams, both in 
Australia and internationally. 
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Mr McGrath is a Director of SGM Consulting, Past Chairman of 
the Australian National Committee on Large Dams, a member 
of the Dam Safety Committee of the International Commission 
on Large Dams, a Fellow of the Institution of Engineers and a 
Chartered Professional Engineer.

Ms Penny Tovey 
Independent Board member (appointed 1 
October 2018)

Ms Tovey has more than 25 years of experience in 
organisational leadership, legal compliance, industrial 
relations, human resources management, resource utilisation 
and organisational development. Among her former roles Ms 
Tovey was the Director of APESMA, Owner/Director of her 
own company Workplace Knowhow and has worked for both 
employer and employee organisations. She is Chair of the 
Industrial Relations Committee for CleanCo, a new publicly-
owned clean energy generator.

Ms Marina Vit 
Independent Board member (appointed 1 
October 2016 until 30 June 2020)

Ms Vit has more than 20 years of senior executive management 
experience, which has seen her take on roles such as Chief 
Executive Officer and General Manager in dynamic not-for-
profit, commercial and government organisations. Ms Vit is 
a well-connected and talented executive, who has a track 
record of getting the job done, from restructuring companies 
through to setting the strategic policy platform for successful 
government. A fully qualified Company Director, Ms Vit has 
served on and advised a number of Boards.

Ms Marita Corbett 
Independent Board member (appointed 13 
December 2019)

Ms Corbett is a Chartered Accountant, Certified Internal 
Auditor and Certified in risk management assurance. She has 

30 years of experience as a governance, risk management and 
accounting professional, supporting organisations to improve 
operations and accomplish objectives through the evaluation 
of decision making, risk management, internal control and 
governance processes.  

Ms Corbett has gained extensive business experience through 
her work with a number of large corporations with significant 
revenue and asset bases, diverse stakeholders, investments, 
commercial and operational scopes and risk-based decision-
making requirements.

Mr Michael Arnett 
Independent Board member (appointed 1 
January 2013 until 30 September 2019)

Mr Arnett has extensive Board and management experience in 
natural resources and professional services organisations, with 
significant experience in the corporate, commercial, mining 
and natural resources, banking, finance and securities sectors. 
He has been a Board member of Unitywater and is a former 
Partner of international law firm Norton Rose, predominantly 
consulting in mining, resources and oil and gas. Mr Arnett is a 
Board member of Archipelago Metals Limited, NRW Holdings 
Limited, Queensland Energy Resources Limited and Tamarind 
Classic Resources Private Limited.

Mr John Dempsey 
Independent Board member (appointed 23 
December 2016 until 30 September 2019)

Mr Dempsey has a strong track record of Board experience, 
including 13 years as a Director of Energex, five years as 
Chairman. He is a former accountant, tax agent, chartered 
secretary and Cairns City Councillor. Mr Dempsey previously 
chaired the Allconnex water business Board and was a Director 
of the Multiple Sclerosis Society of Queensland.
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Corporate governance
Seqwater has a framework of rules, relationships, policies, 
systems and processes in place to effectively and responsibly 
manage the organisation and give confidence to stakeholders, 
customers and communities.

Through proper oversight and accountability, value was created 
through sound investment and innovation, and it provided 
accountability and control systems to manage risk.

As a Queensland Government-owned statutory authority, 
Seqwater has Board approved governance arrangements, 
which reflect the governance requirements in relevant 
legislation and government guidelines. In 2019-20, quarterly 
performance reports were provided to responsible Ministers. 
Seqwater worked cooperatively with its responsible Ministers’ 
departments, Queensland Treasury and the Department of 
Natural Resources, Mines and Energy. 

From time to time Seqwater was required to report, 
communicate or engage with other government agencies. 
Seqwater continued to work collaboratively with government 
agencies to ensure appropriate application of government 
policies and directives to its operations.

The responsible Ministers have requested that Seqwater apply 
the Corporate Governance Guidelines for Government Owned 
Corporations, issued by Queensland Treasury. The guidelines 
reference the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations and they provide 
the framework to develop, implement, review and report on 
their corporate governance arrangements. An overview of 
existing corporate governance practices in line with these 
guidelines is set out below.

Principle 1 – Foundations of management 
and oversight

The Board is responsible for the way Seqwater performs 
its functions and exercises its powers under the South East 
Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007. 

These responsibilities are confirmed in the Board Charter. To 
meet these responsibilities, the Board’s role is to:

• set strategy and direction, and provide the governance 
framework for the organisation through the endorsement 
of financial, administrative and operational policies

• ensure Seqwater performs its functions and exercises its 
powers in a proper, effective and efficient way

• ensure strategic and operational planning objectives are 
achieved

• be accountable to the responsible Ministers for 
performance and governance

• review the annual performance of the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Company Secretary.

The Board has delegated specific powers and functions to the 
Board committees, the Chief Executive Officer, executives and 
other employees. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 
the day-to-day management of Seqwater. 

The Chief Executive Officer and executives’ performance 
is measured against Key Performance Indicators, and 
communicated to the responsible Ministers in line with the 
State Government Policy for Government Owned Corporation 
Chief and Senior Executive Employment Agreement.

A performance review of the Chief Executive Officer was 
undertaken by the Chair of the Board. This review assessed 
performance against key objectives and performance 
indicators.

A performance review was also undertaken for each of the 
General Managers (Executive). This review was undertaken by 
the Chief Executive Officer and assessed performance against 
objectives and behaviour.

The outcomes of the reviews were reported to the Board and 
informed performance incentive payments.
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Principle 2 – Structure the Board to add 
value

All members of the Board, including the Chair, are non-
executive members. The Board members are appointed by 
the responsible Ministers in accordance with the South East 
Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007. All Board members 
who served during the reporting period were independent as 
assessed against the criteria in the ASX Corporate Governance 
Guidelines.

Board members are issued with an induction pack on 
appointment that details Seqwater operational information, 
governance requirements and policies. Board members may 
seek independent professional advice on matters before the 
Board.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for identifying, 
assessing and enhancing Board members’ competencies to 
ensure that the Board and each committee has members with 
appropriate qualifications. 

The Board engaged an external consultant to conduct the 
review of its performance for 2019-20. Board members 
completed a confidential survey capturing their assessment of 
the performance of the Board and its committees, including 
in respect of good governance practice in the conduct of 
meetings, engagement with management, and secretariat 
support. The Board will review the survey outcomes in August 
2020.

Board committees

The Board has three standing committees that meet 
periodically:

• Audit and Risk Committee: Marita Corbett (Chair), Penny 
Tovey, Hon. Dr David Hamill.

• Investment and Procurement Committee: Shane McGrath 
(Chair), Marita Corbett, Hon. Dr David Hamill.

• People and Culture Committee: Marina Vit (Chair), Penny 
Tovey, Hon. Dr David Hamill.

All Board members are entitled to attend committee meetings. 
The Board may form other committees, however during the 
period it requested any other matter be considered at a whole 
of Board level.

Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee provided independent 
assurance and assistance to the Board on governance, risk 
and compliance frameworks and external accountability 
responsibilities, as prescribed in the Financial Accountability 
Act 2009 and Accounting Policy standards. Seqwater’s internal 
audit function regularly reviewed and tested the effectiveness 
of the system and reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Committee’s duties and responsibilities are outlined in 
its Charter, and encompass oversight of compliance with 
all mandatory requirements of corporate governance. The 
Committee observed the terms of its Charter and followed 
Queensland Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines.

During 2019-20, the Committee considered amendments to and 
compliance with the requirements of the Committee’s Charter 
and oversaw:

• the annual budget process and financial reporting

• the external audit function and consideration of associated 
reporting

• Queensland Treasury Corporation’s management of 
Seqwater’s debt pool

• the internal audit function and considered associated 
reporting, including progress against the 2019-20 Internal 
Audit Plan and recommendation to the Board for approval 
of the 2020-21 Internal Audit Plan

• fraud and corruption control activities, including progress 
against the 2019-20 Fraud and Corruption Control Plan and 
recommendation to the Board of the 2020-21 Fraud and 
Corruption Control Plan

• the Enterprise Risk Management Framework
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• the review and update of relevant governance policies 
including: 

 – Gifts and Benefits Policy
 – Non-current Assets Accounting Policy 
 – Treasury Policy.

During the reporting period, the Audit and Risk Committee 
reviewed audit reports and considered audit recommendations 
prepared by the Queensland Audit Office.

The Committee also considered Seqwater’s insurance program 
renewal and reviewed its performance during the previous 
period and associated reporting to the Board.

Investment and Procurement Committee

The Investment and Procurement Committee reviewed capital 
and operational investment and procurement decisions. 
The Committee ensured Seqwater met strategic, corporate 
and technical aspects of asset delivery and operational 
performance objectives, while managing the associated 
business risks and ensuring risk management systems were in 
place. The Committee’s role, functions and duties are outlined 
in its Charter. The Committee observed the terms of its Charter. 

During 2019-20, the Committee:

• contributed to the update and finalisation of the 2020 
Asset Portfolio Master Plan, which presents an integrated 
and optimised suite of infrastructure improvements needed 
to meet service requirements and manage risk over the 
next 30 years

• oversaw the infrastructure improvement program, 
including consideration of the Dam Improvement Program 
and other major capital projects, and recommended 
approval to the Board

• oversaw the delivery of the 2019-20 infrastructure and 
non-infrastructure investment program, with a focus on 
efficient and effective outcomes

• oversaw the development of the 2020-21 infrastructure 

and non-infrastructure investment program and 
recommended approval to the Board

• considered major capital investment and maintenance 
program business cases and critical supply contracts, 
including monitoring and control systems, residuals 
management, asset upgrades, and recommended approval 
to the Board

• used its delegated authority to consider the approval of 
contracts up to a value of $10 million associated with 
Board approved projects

• oversaw the performance of the major service contracts in 
relation to Seqwater’s infrastructure assets 

• reviewed the Committee’s performance during the previous 
period and associated reporting to the Board.

People and Culture Committee

The People and Culture Committee reviewed decisions and 
recommendations relating to Seqwater’s people and culture 
initiatives, policies and programs. The Committee’s role, 
functions and duties are outlined in its Charter. The Committee 
observed the terms of its Charter. 

During 2019-20, the Committee oversaw:

• the annual Chief Executive Officer and executives 
performance and remuneration review process for 2018-19

• management’s leadership development program

• development of the 2020-21 Organisational Key 
Performance Indicators and targets

• guidance regarding Seqwater’s work health and safety 
program and the associated risk management.
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Government body
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

Seqwater Board

Act or instrument South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007

Functions
The Board is accountable to its responsible Ministers for the performance of Seqwater. It directs 
and monitors the affairs of Seqwater on behalf of its responsible Ministers and is responsible for 
Seqwater’s overall corporate governance.

Achievements

During 2019-20 the Board’s key achievements included:

• oversight of Seqwater’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic

• oversight of Seqwater’s general business operations, including drought response 

• oversight of Seqwater’s capital expenditure program involving approval of major dam and 
water infrastructure development and upgrade projects 

• approval of Seqwater’s draft Operational Plan 2020-21 and Strategic Plan 2020-21 – 2023-24.

Financial reporting
The Board, through the Audit and Risk Committee, oversees financial reporting. The audited 2019-
20 financial statements and related disclosures were approved by the Board on 13 August 2020.

Remuneration

Position Name
Meetings/ 
sessions  
attendance

Approved  
annual fee

Approved sub-committee 
fees if applicable1 

Accual fees  
received2 

Chairman The Hon  
Dr David Hamill 24 $100,000 p.a. $4,500 per committee p.a. 

(Committee member) $113,500

Board member Shane McGrath 16 $45,000 p.a.
$8,000 p.a. (Committee Chair)
$4,500 p.a. (Committee 
member)

$52,083

Board member Marina Vit 11 $45,000 p.a.
$8,000 p.a. (Committee Chair)
$4,500 p.a. (Committee 
member)

$53,000

Board member Penny Tovey 17 $45,000 p.a.
$8,000 p.a. (Committee Chair)
$4,500 p.a. (Committee 
member)

$52,500

1 Fees per annum, pro-rata based on membership during period.
2 Excluding employer superannuation contributions.
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Position Name
Meetings/ 
sessions  
attendance

Approved  
annual fee

Approved sub-committee 
fees if applicable3 

Accual fees  
received4 

Board member Marita Corbett 10 $45,000 p.a.
$8,000 p.a. (Committee Chair)
$4,500 p.a. (Committee 
member)

$32,858

Board member Michael Arnett 6 $45,000 p.a.
$8,000 p.a. (Committee Chair)
$4,500 p.a. (Committee 
member)

$14,375

Board member John Dempsey 6 $45,000 p.a.
$8,000 p.a. (Committee Chair)
$4,500 p.a. (Committee 
member)

$13,250

No. scheduled meetings

Board – nine scheduled meetings

Audit and Risk Committee – seven scheduled meetings

Investment and Procurement Committee – seven scheduled meetings

People and Culture Committee – four scheduled meetings

Total out of pocket expenses $10,811.195 (total cost for Chair and all members) 

3 Fees per annum, pro-rata based on membership during period.
4 Excluding employer superannuation contributions.
5 Out of pocket expenses are outlined in the Remuneration Procedures for part-time Chairs and members of Queensland Government bodies.



Essential Water | Seqwater Annual Report 2019–20 23

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible 
decision making

Seqwater is committed to high standards of integrity, 
professionalism and accountability. Seqwater maintains 
several key corporate governance documents focused on 
ensuring public confidence and integrity in Seqwater and 
clearly establishing accountability and ethical decision-making 
expectations of Seqwater workers in the conduct of their 
duties.

The Way We Work, Seqwater’s Code of Conduct, and the 
Seqwater values describes the behaviours and culture expected 
of employees in delivering on the Water for Life vision and Safe 
for Life promise. The Way We Work forms part of Seqwater’s 
recruitment process and onboarding program and is readily 
available internally and externally. 

The Way We Work aligns with the Public Sector Ethics Act 
1994 principles and values. It is supported by numerous 
policies, procedures and documents and the Public 
Sector Ethics Act 1994 is referenced as a key document. 
Associated human resource practices are reviewed at a 
minimum every one to three years to ensure currency and 
alignment. In addition, Talent and Performance Plans enable 
regular conversations around living the values, goals and 
accountability. 

The Way We Work training was completed this year to further 
guide values-based behaviour and ethical decision-making. 

High standards of integrity and ethical behaviour are required 
of any person who is carrying out duties for or on behalf of 
Seqwater. The Seqwater Board has a Board Code of Conduct 
Policy that describes the principles of conduct that are to be 
observed while undertaking duties or representing Seqwater.

Seqwater’s Policy Framework details its policy governance 
hierarchy and establishes the requirements for policy 
development, implementation, and review, and includes a list 
of all Board reserved policies and documents.

The Gifts and Benefits Policy details Seqwater’s position on the 
giving, accepting, and reporting of gifts and benefits.

A Trading in Securities Policy establishes protocols and 
restrictions to guard against potential conflicts of interests 
created by workers trading in securities or pursuing other 
investments.

Seqwater’s Fraud and Corruption Control Policy establishes 
accountabilities and responsibilities among its workers to 
prevent, detect and respond to fraud and corruption, and is 
overseen by Seqwater’s Fraud Control Officer. 

The Conflict of Interest Policy and Procedure establishes the 
requirements for identifying, declaring and managing conflicts 
of interest.

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial 
reporting 

The Board and the Audit and Risk Committee monitor and 
safeguard the integrity of Seqwater’s financial reporting.  

The Audit and Risk Committee provides assurance for financial 
reporting through review of accounting policy appropriateness, 
significant assumptions and judgements, and material 
estimations impacting on financial reporting. Membership 
of the committee and details of attendance at meetings is 
disclosed on page 19 of this report.

Seqwater’s Chief Executive Officer and General Manager 
Corporate Services annually certify that the financial 
statements faithfully represent the financial performance and 
position of the entity and have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, concepts, frameworks 
and Auditing Guidelines. 

Seqwater has an internal audit function that operates under 
a Board approved Internal Audit Charter and is overseen by 
the Audit and Risk Committee. The internal audit function 
operates independently, objectively and effectively to provide 
third line of defence assurance. Internal Audit aligns with 
Queensland Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines, the 
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Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial Performance 
Management Standard 2019 and the relevant aspects of the 
Government Owned Corporations Governance Framework. 

Internal audits provided independent, objective assurance and 
helped deliver on its purpose by systematically reviewing, 
evaluating and recommending improvements to risk 
management and governance processes, and system of internal 
controls. Internal audit is managed in house, with a majority 
of the audit activities conducted by independent specialist 
external service providers.

The status of audit recommendations was reviewed quarterly 
and reported to the Board, the Audit and Risk Committee, the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive.

In accordance with the Auditor-General Act 2009, the external 
audit function of Seqwater is performed by the Queensland 
Audit Office. The Audit and Risk Committee monitors the 
review and implementation of recommendations made by the 
internal audit function and external auditors.

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced 
disclosures

Seqwater is committed to proactively communicating 
appropriate information to its stakeholders including its 
responsible Ministers, customers and the communities it 
serves.

Seqwater’s communications to the responsible Ministers  
occur on a continuous disclosure basis. In addition to formal 
quarterly and annual reporting, briefing notes and other 
updates are provided including communications on significant 
matters such as major capital projects and key operational 
matters such as drought response.

Seqwater maintains a publication scheme on its website to 
meet the requirements of the Right to Information Act 2009.

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of 
shareholders

Seqwater has a suite of documents which establish the 
formal communication between Seqwater and its responsible 
Ministers. These documents are supported by regular 
and detailed communications between Seqwater and its 
responsible Ministers and their departments.

Formal communication includes:

• Strategic plan – a four year plan that describes Seqwater’s 
vision, outlines its objectives and measures of success, 
demonstrates how its objectives contribute to the whole-
of-government direction and outlines the critical issues for 
regional water supply.

• Operational plan – a one year plan that outlines 
how Seqwater will deliver its services, establishes 
undertakings and performance targets for the financial 
year, and is agreed with its responsible Ministers.

• Quarterly performance reports – report on Seqwater’s 
progress against the undertakings and performance targets 
established in the operational plan.

• Annual report – reports on Seqwater’s non-financial and 
financial performance and achievements for the preceding 
financial year.

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk

Seqwater’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework is 
approved by the Board and overseen by the Audit and Risk 
Committee. It establishes processes for assessing, rating and 
managing risks and opportunities within the Board approved 
risk appetite.

Seqwater’s risk appetite is reviewed by the Audit and Risk 
Committee and endorsed by the Board. The Risk Appetite 
Statement records the Board's ongoing review of its appetite to 
the various risks which impact the business.
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Seqwater’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework aligns 
with ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management Guidelines and meets 
the requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and 
the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019.

Seqwater’s Risk Management Policy Statement sets the 
parameters for how risk is to be managed as part of ongoing 
business operations in pursuit of its objectives, and to preserve 
and create value across the organisation. The Audit and Risk 
Committee oversees and monitors the overall effectiveness 
of the Enterprise Risk Management Framework as well as the 
robustness of the control environment.

While the Chief Executive Officer retains ultimate management 
accountability for managing risk across the organisation, risks 
relating to day to day operations and the delivery of corporate 
objectives are monitored by the Executive.

Seqwater recognises the importance of organisational culture 
in the success of an enterprise wide risk management approach 
and continued to embed aligned risk-based decision making 
across all processes. 

To actively manage and better understand Seqwater’s risk 
profile and appetite in 2019-20:

• all Board and Executive submissions and proposals 
included an assessment of the risks to the business to 
articulate the risk profile and inform risk appetite

• reviews of risk, opportunities, controls and initiatives were 
conducted throughout the year and reported quarterly to 
the Audit and Risk Committee

• risk assessments and information were integrated into 
strategic and operational planning, project management, 
capital and asset planning, incident and emergency 
response and business continuity

• improved the management of enterprise and operational 
risk information in a central system, enabling ease of 
reporting and analysis, and visibility of incidents, audits 
and risks

• developed Seqwater’s Pandemic Plan, reviewed the 
Business Continuity Plan, and prepared a COVID-19 Plan 

• matured fraud and corruption control risk management 

• matured tools to gather information to improve 
understanding of risk and assist in a consistent method 
of management that aligns to Seqwater’s risk appetite for 
functional areas such as environment, water quality and 
safety

• continued to improve tools to align the management of 
project delivery risks.

Seqwater has a Board approved commercial insurance 
program.

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and 
responsibly

Remuneration at Seqwater is determined based on the type of 
employee.

Board members

Seqwater Board members are engaged in accordance with the 
South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007. 

Executive

The Government Owned Corporation Chief and Senior Executive 
Employment Arrangements Guideline sets the requirements for 
determining employment conditions, including remuneration, 
for the Chief Executive Officer and executives.

Common law contract employees

Common law contract employee remuneration is market 
aligned and reviewed annually based on independent 
remuneration advice considering the following principles:

• clarity and transparency
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• level and composition of remuneration is sufficient and 
reasonable while meeting customers’ and shareholders’ 
expectations in relation to value for money

• clear relationship between remuneration, the position  
and performance of individuals

• performance incentives are a reward for exceptional 
performance and not an entitlement for performing  
the role.

Enterprise Agreement employees

Employees engaged under the Enterprise Agreement were 
remunerated in accordance with the Seqwater Enterprise 
Agreement 2016-2019. Bargaining for a new Enterprise 
Agreement is progressing, and the new agreement will be 
consistent with the Government Owned Corporations – Wages 
and Industrial Relations Policy (Temporary Addendum) 2020.

Human rights 
As a statutory body, Seqwater welcomes the commencement 
of the Human Rights Act 2019 and will respect, protect and 
promote human rights in decision making and actions. 

During the reporting period, Seqwater took the following 
actions to further the objectives of the Human Rights Act 2019:

• at its March 2020 meeting, the Board was provided with a 
report noting the commencement of the Human Rights Act 
2019 and a summary of its objectives, the 23 human rights 
protected and the activities that Management will be 
undertaking to address compliance requirements

• a human rights checklist was created and implemented to 
form part of Seqwater’s complaints assessment process 
for suspected corrupt conduct. This has now been adopted 
for use in the assessment process for general customer 
complaints 

• a project commenced in June 2020 to identify and 
catalogue compliance obligations under the Human Rights 
Act 2019, establish initial governance to ensure ongoing 
compliance is achievable and prepare a management 
plan for systematically reviewing the business’ systems, 
processes, and policies over the next 12 months. This 
project will involve significant stakeholder engagement 
across the business to develop a methodology that will 
integrate with Seqwater’s strategic and operational plans.

Seqwater received no human rights complaints in 2019-20.

External scrutiny
There was no external scrutiny undertaken in 2019-20.
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Information systems and 
record keeping
There has been an uplift in the capturing and the management 
of records in the electronic Document and Records 
Management System (eDRMS) across the business. This is 
a positive outcome resulting from the continued training, 
awareness activities and new employee induction program. 

To further facilitate the transition from paper-based records 
to digital, the eDRMS now has improved functionality that 
will enable the business to capture and manage their records 
more easily by utilising the workflow capability. In addition, 
a document signage system has been deployed primarily to 
replace ‘wet’ signatures required on documents. 

There were two new directives issued from the Queensland 
State Archive for the management of records pertaining to child 
safety, protection of vulnerable persons and a notice issued 
under section 10 of the Public Records Act 2002 to report on 
records older than 25 years, which have been actioned and 
accepted by the state archivist.

Seqwater’s commitment to continuous improvement with 
technology and connectivity encompasses a proactive and 
productive agile workforce. It will be an exciting journey for the 
business over the following 12 months where a new records 
Web User Interface will be deployed, expanding the landscape 
through eDRMS mobility. This improvement will support 
Seqwater’s obligation to ensure records are discoverable and 
accessible for use and re-use.

Workplace planning and 
performance
Seqwater takes a planned approach to determine staffing and 
capability needs. Seqwater’s workforce comprised 827 FTEs 
at 30 June 2020. In 2019-20 Seqwater’s permanent separation 
rate was 8%. 

With a diversity of roles, disciplines and locations, a range of 
sourcing techniques are used to find the best talent to support 
Seqwater in delivering on key priorities.

Seqwater’s leaders are committed to building the talent 
pipeline and developing the capability of its people, 
providing them with both formal and on-the-job development 
opportunities. The Next Generation program is a key element of 
Seqwater’s talent strategy providing a structured approach for 
apprentices, trainees and graduates to join the Seqwater team. 
In 2019-20 Seqwater employed 22 trainees, seven apprentices 
and six graduates.   

Workforce strategies and organisational design continue to 
be reviewed to ensure contemporary practice. The Connecting 
Our Business initiative has been a key focus during the 
year, helping to identify and realise opportunities across the 
business for which work can be more efficiently and effectively 
structured and performed. 

Seqwater is committed to providing work policies and practices 
that promote and support employees to work flexibly with 
a focus on wellbeing. The Enterprise Agreement provides 
employees with flexible working options to support employees 
to balance individual needs with operational requirements 
and to ensure optimal delivery of performance and outcomes. 
Currently 7% of Seqwater’s workforce is working on a part-time 
basis. 

A key initiative implemented this year was an agile working 
approach which provides employees with choice in where and 
how they work. This initiative was supported by an innovative 
accommodation strategy aimed at driving improved teamwork 
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and collaborative practice through changes to the built 
environment. 

Discovery Day forms part of Seqwater’s monthly onboarding 
program. It is an in-person induction that gives new employees 
the opportunity to gain further insight into Seqwater, its role 
and culture. A safety induction and site tours of key assets also 
help to induct employees into the business.

Seqwater’s Talent and Performance Plans enable regular 
conversations around living the values, delivering on goals 
and accountability which is especially important to Seqwater 
achieving its Water for Life vision.

Seqwater’s Excellence Awards provide an opportunity to 
recognise and celebrate the achievements of colleagues and 
outstanding leadership behaviours across all levels of the 
business, regardless of position. 

Seqwater’s Health and Wellbeing Program includes 
flu vaccinations, skin checks and health and wellbeing 
assessments, in 2019-20 Seqwater focused on implementing 
mental health initiatives outlined on page 12. 

Seqwater is committed to embracing the diversity of its people 
and fostering an inclusive culture in which its people are 
empowered to be innovative and challenge the status quo. 
Policies and procedures reflect this commitment, ensuring a 
safe workplace where workers are treated with dignity and 
respect and where discrimination, harassment and bullying is 
not tolerated.

The Way We Lead, Seqwater’s leadership development 
program, commenced in 2018 and will continue into 2021. 
The Way We Lead provides a shared understanding of the six 
attributes that support leaders to live Seqwater’s values and 
deliver on its vision and promise. Leaders drive Seqwater’s 
culture and expectations.

Seqwater actively encourages constructive working 
relationships with its employees, delegates and the unions that 
are party to its Enterprise Agreement. It maintains effective 
consultative mechanisms with unions on industrial relations 
matters with significant progress on Seqwater’s enterprise 
bargaining process achieved during 2019-20.

Corporate entertainment
During 2019-20, Seqwater did not hold any corporate or 
hospitality event that cost more than $5,000.

Open data
Information about consultancies and overseas travel is 
available online in lieu of inclusion in the annual report. This 
information will be available on the Queensland Government 
Open Data website (https://data.qld.gov.au).
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Notes 2020 

$000 
Revenue 
Water sales B1-1 1,022,477 

Grants and other contributions B1-2 14,471 

Other revenue B1-3 8,374 

Total operating revenue 1,045,322 

Revaluation increment C3-6 34,962 

Total revenue 1,080,284 

Expenses 
Employee benefit expenses B2 107,473 

Supplies and services B3 176,637 

Depreciation and amortisation B5 265,107 

Finance/borrowing costs B4 466,202 

Other expenses B6 9,850 

Total operating expenses 1,025,269 

Operating result before income tax 55,015 
Income tax (expense)/ credit B7 (17,917) 

Operating profit/ (loss) 37,098 

Other comprehensive income 
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
operating profit or loss: 

Increase in asset revaluation surplus net of tax 31,042 

Total other comprehensive income 31,042 

Total comprehensive income 68,140 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

2019 

$000 

960,689 

13,795 

13,763 

988,247 

988,247 

97,295 

156,154 

262,937 

507,712 

7,951 

1,032,049 

(43,802) 
10,853 

(32,949) 

(32,949) 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Statement of Financial Position 

as at 30 June 2020 

Notes 2020 
$000 

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents C1 313,997 

Trade and other receivables C2 149,381 

Inventories 9,374 

Other current assets 5,803 

478,555 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment C3-6 11,078,951 

Right-of-use assets C10 5,308 

Intangible assets C4-4 158,399 

Total non-current assets 11,242,658 

Total assets 11,721,213 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables C5 35,208 

Employee benefits C6 25,009 

Interest bearing liabilities C7 36,657 

Lease liabilities C10 386 

Other current liabilities C9 11,841 

Total current liabilities 109,101 

Non-current liabilities 
Employee benefits C6 3,599 

Interest bearing liabilities C7 9,384,583 

Lease liabilities C10 5,176 

Deferred tax liabilities CB-1 186,853 

Other non-current liabilities C9 282,146 

Total non-current liabilities 9,862,357 

Total liabilities 9,971,458 

Net assets 1,749,755 

Equity 
Contributed equity (715,888) 

Asset revaluation surplus C11 2,755,888 

Accumulated surplus (290,245) 

Total equity 1,749,755 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

2019 
$000 

214,797 

142,041 

8,343 

3,930 

369,111 

11,124,853 

155,962 

11,280,815 

11,649,926 

58,970 

20,780 

40,898 

11,841 

132,489 

2,080 

9,384,583 

155,631 

293,528 

9,835,822 

9,968,311 

1,681,615 

(715,888) 

2,724,846 

(327,343) 

1,681,615 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Statement of Changes in Equity 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Accumulated Asset 
surplus/ revaluation Contributed 
(deficit) surplus equity Total 

$000 $000 $000 $000 

Balance as at 1 July 2018 (294,394) 2,724,846 (715,888) 1,714,564 
Operating result from continuing 
operations (32,949) (32,949) 

Total other comprehensive income: 
Decrease in asset revaluation 
surplus 
Transfer revaluation surplus as a 
result of disposal of non-current 
asset 

Transactions with owners as owners 

- contributed equity 

Balance as at 30 June 2019 (327,343) 2,724,846 (715,888) 1,681,615 

Balance as at 1 July 2019 (327,343) 2,724,846 (715,888) 1,681,615 

Operating result from continuing 
operations 37,098 37,098 

Total other comprehensive income: 
Increase in asset revaluation 
surplus 31,042 31,042 
Transfer revaluation surplus as a 
result of disposal of non-current 
asset 

Transactions with owners as owners 

- contributed equity 

Balance as at 30 June 2020 (290,245) 2,755,888 (715,888) 1,749,755 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Notes 2020 
$000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Inflows: 
Receipts from water services 1,014,775 
Grants received 3,089 
Interest received 3,868 
Other revenue 4,583 
GST collected 32,903 
Outflows: 
Payments to suppliers and employees (311,542) 
Finance and borrowing costs (470,108) 
GST paid (32,951) 
Other (3,925) 
Net cash provided by operating activities CF- 1 240,692 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Inflows: 
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 1,436 
Outflows: 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (135,327) 
Payments for intangibles (6,943) 
Net cash used in investing activities (140,834) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Outflows: 
Lease payments (658) 
Net cash provided by financing activities (658) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 99,200 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year 214,797 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year C1 313,997 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

2019 
$000 

952,929 
2,408 
3,945 

13,233 
29,810 

(253,225) 
(507,818) 
(29,927) 

(2,819) 
208,536 

387 

(129,077) 
(13,060) 

(141,750) 

66,786 

148,011 

214,797 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Notes to the Statement of Cash Flow 

CF - 1 Reconciliation of operating result to net cash provided by operating activities 
2020 

Operating result 

Non-cash items included in operating result: 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Losses/(gains) on sale of property, plant and 
equipment 

Lease 

Income tax expense/ (credit) 

Revaluation increment 

Doubtful debts expenses 

Change in assets and liabilities: 

(lncrease)/decrease in trade and other receivables 

(lncrease)/decrease in inventories 

(lncrease)/decrease in GST receivable 

(Increase )/decrease in other current assets 

lncrease/(decrease) in trade and other payables 

lncrease/(decrease) in employee benefits 

lncrease/(decrease) in other liabilities 

lncrease/(decrease) in loan interest payable 

lncrease/(decrease) in GST payable 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

CF - 2 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

Non-Cash Changes 
Transfers 

$000 
37,098 

264,514 

393 

912 

17,917 

(34,962) 

4 

(7,296) 

(1,032) 

(38) 

(1,872) 

(25,062) 

5,748 

(11,382) 

(4,240) 

(10) 

240,692 

Cash Flows 

2019 
$000 

(32,949) 

262,937 

267 

(10,853) 

(24) 

(4,547) 

(739) 

(104) 

(374) 

4,459 

1,980 

(11,387) 

(117) 

(13) 

208,536 

Closing 
balance 

to/(from) 
QTC 

New leases 
acquired 

Cash Cash Closing 
Balance 

2020 

Leases 

Borrowings 

Total 

2019 

Borrowings 

Total 

$000 

9,384,583 

9,384,583 

9 384 583 

9,384,583 

$000 $000 

5,900 

5,900 

Other 

$000 

320 

320 

received Repayments 

$000 $000 

(658) 

(658) 

$000 

5,562 

9,384,583 

9,390,145 

9,384 583 

9,384,583 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

SECTION 1 

ABOUT THE ENTITY AND THIS FINANCIAL REPORT 

A1 Basis of financial statement preparation 

A1-1 Reporting entity 

The Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority trading as Seqwater (the Entity) is a Statutory Body under 
the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982 and has 
been established under the South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007. The Entity expires at 
the end of 99 years from when ii was established on 16 November 2007. The Queensland Government is 
the successor in law at the expiry date. The Entity is controlled by the Queensland Government which is 
the ultimate parent. 

The head office and principal place of business of the Entity is Level 8, 117 Brisbane Street, Ipswich QLD 
4305. 

The financial statements include the value of all revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of the 
Entity. 

A1-2 Statement of compliance 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with: 

• Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB); 

• the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019; 

• Queensland Treasury's Minimum Reporting Requirements for reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2019; and 

• other authoritative pronouncements. 

A1-3 lmpactofCOVID-19 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Entity commenced formal Emergency Management activities 
9 March 2020, for the purposes of protecting workforce health and wellbeing, and maintaining water 
supply, dam safety activities and the capacity to perform flood mitigation services. 

Operational financial impact 

Financial responses to the COVID-19 pandemic have been varied, and include rent relief, reductions in 
employee benefits relating to future performance payments, as well as expenditure directly relating to 
specified activities including cleaning services and employee allowances. 

The impact of these responses has been immaterial, with the provision of rent relief and increased 
employee allowances, being offset by the reduction in employee benefits relating to performance 
payments. 

Asset valuation impact 

The COVID-19 pandemic has been considered in the annual asset valuation through the examination of 
cashflow scenario impacts and commercial WACC adjustment. 

At 30 June 2020 the Entity has not observed material changes in cashflow forecasts as a result of 
COVID-19 impacts and has therefore elected to record COVID-19 asset valuation impacts via the 
adjustment of the commercial WACC used in discounting future cashflows. The Entity's reported WACC 
of 5.95% at 30 June 2020 includes a non-asset specific risk premium for COVID-19. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

A1 Basis offinancial statement preparation (continued) 

A1-4 Going concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Board considers the going 
concern basis to be appropriate as there is a reasonable expectation that the Entity will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due. Further, the Entity will remain a going concern for at least twelve months 
from the date of signing these financial statements for the following reasons: 

• The Board relies on the Queensland Government's commitment to ensuring the solvency and 
ongoing viability of the Entity. This commitment was affirmed in a letter from the Hon. Cameron 
Dick MP, Treasurer, Minister for Infrastructure and Planning and the Hon. Dr Anthony Lynham MP, 
Minister for Natural Resources, Mines and Energy issued to the Entity on 29 June 2020. This letter 
is effective from 30 June 2020 to 31 August 2021; 

• The Government's support for the Entity will include facilitating the provision of funding facilities 
through Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) to ensure the availability of funds to meet: 

o the working capital and capital works requirements of the Entity; 

o the financial commitments of the Entity under water supply agreements with its 
customers; and 

o the financial commitments and obligations incurred by the Entity as a result of the pricing 
structure, including any variations to funding requirements arising from the bulk water 
price path. 

• The Government's commitment is provided on the basis that any funding made available to the 
Entity is consistent with arrangements agreed under the Entity's Operational and Strategic Plans, 
or as otherwise approved by the responsible Ministers under the South East Queensland Water 
(Restructuring) Act 2007 or other applicable legislation (notably, the Statutory Bodies Financial 
Arrangements Act 1982 (SBFA Act)); 

• The Entity's borrowings from QTC obtain the benefit of a State guarantee under section 21 of the 
SBFA Act; and 

• As at 30 June 2020, the Entity has an approved working capital facility from QTC amounting to 
$200 million (refer to Note C7-2) of which none has been drawn at 30 June 2020 and has a cash 
balance of $314 million at 30 June 2020 (refer to Note C1). 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

A1 Basis offinancial statement preparation (continued) 

A1-5 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in 
applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements are found in the following notes: 

Fair value D1 Fair value measurement 

C3 Valuation of property, plant and 
equipment including key estimates 
and judgements 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses C3&C4 Including estimated useful life and 
assessment on asset conditions 

Employee benefits C6 Including estimates related to long 
service leave 

Income tax and utilisation of tax losses CB Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Contingencies D3 Litigation in progress 

Judgements relating to the 2011 
Floods Class Action 

A1-6 Basis of measurement 

Historical cost is used as the measurement basis in the financial report except for the following: 

• Land, building and infrastructure assets which are measured at fair value; and 

• Provisions expected to be settled 12 or more months after reporting date which are measured at 
their present value. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

A1 Basis offinancial statement preparation (continued) 

A1-7 Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
are classified as operating cash flows. 

A 1-8 Presentation 

Currency and rounding 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. Amounts included in the financial statements 
have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where that amount is $500 or less, to zero, unless 
disclosure of the full amount is specifically required. 

Comparatives 

Comparative information reflects the audited 2018-19 financial statements except where restated for 
identified prior period errors. 

Current/non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial 
Position and associated notes. 

Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months 
after the reporting date. Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 
months after the reporting date, or the Entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to 
beyond 12 months after the reporting date. 

All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 

A 1-9 Authorisation of financial statements for issue 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board on 13 August 2020. 

A2 Objectives of the Entity 

The Entity is primarily involved in the supply of water services and carrying out water activities. 

As set out in the South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007 the Entity must carry out its 
functions as a commercial enterprise. The Entity meets the definition of a for profit entity for the purposes 
of the accounting standards. 
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B1 Revenue 

Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

SECTION 2 

NOTES ABOUT OUR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Recognition occurs when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Entity and specified criteria have been met for each of the Entity's 
activities as described below. The Entity bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration 
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. 

B1-1 Water sales 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when the Entity transfers control over a good or 
service to the customer. 

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance 
obligations, significant payment terms, and revenue recognition for the Entity's water sales revenue from 
contracts with customers. 

Type of good or 
service 

Bulk water sales to 
distributor retailers 
(DRs) 

Bulk water sales to 
Stanwell Corporation 
and Toowoomba 
Regional Council 

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance 
obligations, including significant payment terms 

• The Bulk Water Supply Agreements (BWSA) 
between the Entity and the DRs set out the terms 
and conditions for the monthly water billing. 

• The unit price per megalitre is in accordance with the 
Ministerial set price. 

• Based on the Entity's past experience, all the DR 
invoices are paid within the payment terms, no 
impairment indicator exists for the monthly billing to 
the DRs. 

• The bulk water supply agreements between the 
parties set out the terms and conditions for the 
monthly water billing. 

• There are fixed and variable charges in the 
agreement. The charge rates are listed in the 
agreement and subject to annual review. Meter 
reading points and water supply calculation 
methodologies are clearly documented in the 
agreement. 

• Based on the Entity's past experience, all the 
Stanwell Corporation and Toowoomba Regional 
Council invoices are paid within the agreed payment 
terms, no impairment indicator exists for the monthly 
billing to them. 

Revenue recognition 
policies 

The Entity recognises 
bulk water revenue 
monthly based on the 
actual megalitres 
supplied to the grid 
customer during the 
calendar month. 

The Entity recognises 
bulk water revenue, 
including both fixed 
and variable charges 
monthly, based on the 
agreement price and 
methodology. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

B1 Revenue (continued) 

Type of good or Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance 
service obligations, including significant payment terms 

Water sales to • Section 146 of the Water Act 2000 requires a 
irrigators standard supply contract to be in place when water 

entitlements are converted to water allocations. 

• Irrigation customers have various supply contracts 
with the Entity. 

• Charges for rural irrigation water are largely 
calculated based on two-part tariff charges. Part A 
relates to fixed costs based on water allocation 
volume and is applied quarterly in advance and Part 
B represents the charge for water use based on 
meter readings for the previous quarter. 

• The charges for Part A and Part B are in accordance 
with the Ministerial set prices. 

Revenue recognised over time 

Water sales - water grid 

2020 
$000 

1,018,766 
3,711 Water sales - irrigation 

Total 1,022,477 

B1-2 Government grants and other contributions 

Revenue recognition 
policies 

The Entity recognises 
irrigation water sales 
revenue monthly, the 
fixed component is as 
per set charges and 
the variable 
component is based 
on the actual meter 
reading. 

2019 
$000 

957,107 
3,582 

960,689 

Government grants and contributions are recognised initially as unearned income when there is 
reasonable assurance that they will be earned and that the Entity will comply with the conditions 
associated with the grant. Grants and contributions that compensate the Entity for expenses incurred are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a systematic basis in the same period in which 
the expenses are recognised. 

In 2010, the Entity received $408 million in capital grants from the Commonwealth department for the 
construction of Western Corridor Recycled Water assets. The $408 million was recognised initially as 
unearned income and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income ($11 million) on a 
systematic basis over the useful life of the asset (refer to Note C9). 

The Entity receives Community Service Obligation (CSO) payments from the Queensland Government in 
two parts. The rural water payment is for the provision of rural irrigation water to rural irrigators. The water 
planning development payment is for the activities to ensure compliance with regulatory and policy areas 
of resource management. 

2020 2019 

$000 $000 

cso 1,971 2,074 
Government grant 12,500 11,721 

Total 14,471 13,795 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

B1 Revenue (continued) 

B1-3 Other revenue 

Interest 

Insurance claims 

Other 

Total 

B2 Employee benefit expenses 

Employee benefits 
Wages and salaries 

Annual leave expenses 

Long service leave expenses 

Employer superannuation contributions 

Employee related expenses 
Workers' compensation premium 

Payroll tax 

Other employee related expenses 

Total 

Employee benefits 

Employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. 

2020 
$000 

3,676 

2,330 

2,368 

8,374 

2020 
$000 

78,221 

8,081 

2,819 

10,584 

353 

4,700 

2,715 

107,473 

2019 
$000 

4,059 

6,991 

2,713 

13,763 

2019 
$000 

72,132 

6,541 

1,892 

8,802 

205 

4,281 

3,442 

97,295 

Employer superannuation contributions, annual leave and long service leave are regarded as employee 
benefits. 

Employee related expenses 

Payroll tax and workers' compensation insurance are a consequence of employing employees and are 
not counted in an employee's total remuneration package. They are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as employee related expenses. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

B2 Employee benefit expenses (continued) 

Superannuation schemes 

The Entity currently contributes to QSuper for employees under both defined benefit and accumulation 
superannuation schemes. QSuper is a superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, 
the contribution rates are determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary. 

The Entity's obligation is limited to its contribution to QSuper. The QSuper scheme has defined benefit 
and defined contribution categories. The liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of-government 
basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and 
General Government Sector Financial Reporting. 

The Entity contributes to LGIAsuper for employees under both defined benefit scheme and accumulation 
superannuation scheme. The Entity has no liability to or interest in LGIAsuper other than the payment of 
the statutory contribution. Any amount by which either scheme is over or under funded would only affect 
future benefits and is not an asset or liability of the Entity at this time. Accordingly, there is no recognition 
in the financial statements of any over-or-under funding of LGIAsuper. 

The Entity also contributes to various superannuation funds as nominated by employees under 
superannuation choice of fund. The Entity has no liability to or interest in these funds other than the 
payment of the statutory contribution. 

Superannuation contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable. 

Full time equivalent employees 

The number of employees including both full time employees and part time employees measured on a full 
time equivalent basis as at 30 June are: 
Number of employees 

Permanent employees 
Fixed term employees 

Total 

2020 
617 
210 

827 

Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are detailed in Note E1. 

2019 
617 
177 

794 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

B3 Supplies and services 

Labour hire 

Consultancies and contractors* 

Operational contracts 

Energy 

Information technology and communications 

Repairs and maintenance - dams and weirs 

Repairs and maintenance - water treatment plants 

Repairs and maintenance - pipelines and other 

Chemicals and treatment 

Legal 

Supplies and consumables 

Bulk water service purchase payment 

Other expenses 

Total 

2020 
$000 

2,408 

26,913 

27,047 

24,046 

10,855 

5,262 

9,313 

14,512 

29,049 

4,109 

17,138 

3,798 

2,187 

176,637 

2019 
$000 
1,484 

14,455 

21,006 

24,222 

9,961 

6,195 

8,624 

13,668 

24,520 

7,734 

18,706 

3,801 

1,778 

156,154 
* Includes specialists for engineering, project management, environmental and asset management, accounting and 
economic advice. 

B4 Finance/borrowing costs 

Interest paid or payable to QTC 

Interest on lease liabilities 

Other financial costs 

Total 

Finance/borrowing costs comprise: 

2020 
$000 

465,868 

319 

15 

466,202 

• interest expense on bank overdrafts, short-term and long-term borrowings; 

• unwinding of the discount on provisions; and 

• ancillary administration charges. 

2019 
$000 

507,701 

11 

507,712 

Finance/borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method and are 
expensed in the period in which they arise. Finance/borrowing costs that are not settled in the period in 
which they arise are added to the carrying amount of the borrowing. 

Finance/borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

No borrowing costs are capitalised into qualifying assets. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

B5 Depreciation and amortisation 

Depreciation - property plant and equipment (Note C3-6) 

Depreciation - right-of-use assets (Note C10) 

Amortisation - intangibles (Note C4-4) 

Total 

B6 Other expenses 

Insurance 

External audit fees* 

Rates and taxes 

Losses on disposal - net 

Other 

Total 

2020 
$000 

260,007 

592 

4,508 

265,107 

2020 
$000 
5,949 

315 

2,466 

393 

727 

9,850 

2019 
$000 

258,235 

4,702 

262,937 

2019 
$000 

3,949 

325 

2,391 

265 

1,021 

7,951 
• Total audit fees quoted by the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2019-20 financial statements are $323k (2019: $315k). 

B7 Income tax equivalents 
The difference between income tax expense provided in the financial statements and the prima facie 
income tax expense is reconciled as follows: 

Profit/ (loss) before income tax 

Prima facie income tax thereon at 30% (2019: 30%) 

Add: 

Recognition of under/over tax provision 

Tax impact of revaluations on disposals 

Recognition of capital losses 
Depreciation difference on transferred council 
assets 

Non-deductible expenses 

Total income tax expense/ (credit) 

2020 
$000 

55,015 

16,505 

148 

1,261 

3 
17,917 

2019 
$000 

(43,802) 

(13,141) 

913 

104 

1,262 

9 

(10,853) 

The Entity has been a participant in the ATO National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER) from the date of 
establishment. As a result, an "equivalent" or "notional income tax" liability is payable to Queensland 
Treasury for payment into the consolidated fund. Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax expense/(credil) is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that ii relates to items 
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

SECTION 3 

NOTES ABOUT OUR FINANCIAL POSITION 

C1 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash at bank 
Short-term deposits 

Total 

2020 

$000 

20,909 
293,088 

313,997 

2019 

$000 

23,791 
191,006 

214,797 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are reported as part of short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the Statement of Financial 
Position. 

C2 Trade and other receivables 

2020 2019 
$000 $000 

Trade debtors - retail 139,540 133,832 
Trade debtors - other 6,590 5,019 
Less: Provision for impairment (122) (135) 

146,008 138,716 

GST receivable 3,521 3,483 
GST payable (148) (158) 

3,373 3,325 

Total 149,381 142,041 

Trade and other receivables 

Receivables are measured at amortised cost which approximates their fair value at reporting date. 

Receivables are recognised at the amounts due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed 
purchase/contract price. At 30 June 2020 $140 million (2019:$134 million) receivable relates to contracts 
with customers, with settlement of those amounts required within 30 days from invoice date. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any 
impairment of receivables. Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original 
invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

Impairment of receivables 

An allowance for impairment of receivables reflects lifetime expected credit losses. No allowance for 
impairment of receivables is recorded for receivables owing from local water retailers, local councils and 
power stations in relation to water sales, due to its near zero risk. Where there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering amounts owed by debtors, the debt is immediately written off. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C2 Trade and other receivables (continued) 

Impairment of receivables (continued) 

The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically with provision being made where receivables are 
impaired. The method of calculating any provisional impairment for risk is based on past experience. All 
known bad debts were written-off as at 30 June. 

No financial assets have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or 
impaired and are stated at the carrying amount as indicated. 

Individually impaired receivable position (aged) 

2020 

Expected 
Gross Loss credit 

receivables rate losses 
Receivables $000 $000 
1 to 30 days overdue 150 19% 29 

31 to 60 days overdue 176 19% 34 

61 to 90 days overdue 39 18% 7 

>90 days overdue 302 17% 52 

Total overdue 667 122 

Movement in allowance for impairment for impaired receivables 

Balance at 1 July 

Decrease/(increase) in allowance recognised in operating 
result 

Amount written-off during the year in respect of bad debts 

Total overdue 

Gross 
receivables 

$000 
185 

202 

26 

264 

677 

2020 
$000 
(135) 

(5) 

18 

(122) 

2019 

Loss 
rate 

19% 

20% 

19% 

20% 

Expected 
credit 

losses 
$000 

36 

40 

5 

54 

135 

2019 
$000 
(171) 

24 

12 

(135) 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense 

C3-1 Recognition and acquisition 

Cost of acquisition 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost. Assets acquired in exchange 
for other non-monetary assets or assets acquired at a nominal consideration are initially recognised at 
cost. On initial recognition, all costs incurred in purchasing or constructing the asset and getting it ready 
for use are capitalised to the value of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site 
on which they are located. 

Costs incurred subsequent to the initial asset purchase are capitalised when the expenditure improves 
the condition of the asset beyond its originally assessed standard of performance or capacity. Outlays 
that do not meet the criteria for recognition as an asset are expensed in the financial year. 

Basis of capitalisation and recognition thresholds 

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to or in excess of the following 
thresholds are recognised for financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition: 

Land 

Building 

Infrastructure 

Plant and Equipment 

Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition. 

$1 

$10,000 

$10,000 

$5,000 

Land improvements are to be included in either the building, or the infrastructure asset class based on 
their proximity to the asset to which they relate. 

The Entity has a comprehensive annual maintenance program for its building and infrastructure assets. 
Expenditure on property, plant and equipment is capitalised where it is probable that the expenditure will 
produce future service potential for the Entity. Subsequent expenditure is only added to an asset's 
carrying amount if it increases the service potential or useful life of that asset. Maintenance expenditure 
that merely restores original service potential (lost through ordinary wear and tear) is expensed. 

Componentisation of complex assets 

Complex assets comprise separately identifiable components (or groups of components) of significant 
value, that require replacement at regular intervals and at different times to other components comprising 
the complex asset. 

On initial recognition, the asset recognition thresholds outlined above apply to the complex asset as a 
single item. Where the complex asset qualifies for recognition, components are then separately recorded 
when their value is significant relative to the total cost of the complex asset. Components whose value 
exceeds 10% of the complex asset's total cost are separately recorded only where a material difference 
in depreciation expense would occur. 

When a separately identifiable component (or group of components) of significant value is replaced, the 
existing component(s) is derecognised. The replacement component(s) are capitalised when it is 
probable that future economic benefits from the significant component will flow to the Entity in conjunction 
with the other components comprising the complex asset and the cost exceeds the asset recognition 
thresholds specified above. Replacement components that do not meet the asset recognition thresholds 
for capitalisation are expensed. 

Components are valued on the same basis as the asset class to which they relate. The accounting policy 
for depreciation of complex assets, and estimated useful lives of components, is disclosed in Note C3-4. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-2 Measurement using historical cost 

Plant and equipment is measured at historical cost in accordance with the Non-Current Assets Policies 
for the Queensland Public Sector. The carrying amount for plant and equipment is not materially different 
from their fair value. 

C3-3 Measurement using fair value 

Land, buildings and infrastructure are measured at fair value in accordance with MSB 116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment, MSB 13 Fair Value Measurement and Queensland Treasury's Non-Current Asset 
Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. These assets are reported at their revalued amounts, being 
the fair value at the date of valuation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses where applicable. 

The Entity operates on a commercial basis, with the primary objective being the generation of cash 
inflows. Where there is no market price for the asset, fair value is either the current replacement cost or 
the net present value of the cash flows from the asset. 

If the asset does not generate cash inflows independent from a group of assets then the fair value will be 
either the sum of the current replacement cost of the group of assets or the fair value of the group of 
assets using an income approach. 

The fair values reported by the Entity are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximise the 
use of available and relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs (refer to 
Note D1). 

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the entire class of property, plant and 
equipment to which the asset belongs is revalued. 

Accounting for changes in fair value 

Revaluation increments in respect of each individual non-current asset are credited to the asset 
revaluation surplus, except to the extent that it reverses a previous decrement recognised as an expense 
for that individual asset in profit or loss. In this instance the reversal portion of the increment is 
recognised as revenue in profit or loss. Revaluation decrements in respect of each asset are recognised 
as an expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that it reverses a previous increment for that asset 
and a positive balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus for that asset. In this instance, the reversal 
portion of the decrement is recognised in other comprehensive income and asset revaluation surplus. 

On revaluation: 

• for assets revalued using a cost valuation approach (e.g. current replacement cost) - accumulated 
depreciation is adjusted to equal the difference between the gross amount and carrying amount, 
after taking into account accumulated impairment losses. This is generally referred to as the 'gross 
method'; and 

• for assets revalued using a market or income-based valuation approach - accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses are eliminated against the gross amount of the 
asset prior to restating for the revaluation. This is generally referred to as the 'net method'. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-4 Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the net cost or 
revalued amount of each asset, less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful 
life. 

Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. 

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these 
components are assigned useful lives distinct from the asset to which they relate and are depreciated 
accordingly. 

Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is 
capitalised and the new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset. 

Major spares purchased specifically for particular assets are capitalised and depreciated on the same 
basis as the asset to which they relate. 

Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they reach service delivery 
capacity. Service delivery capacity relates to when construction is complete and the asset is first put to 
use or installed ready for use in accordance with its intended application. These assets are then 
reclassified to the relevant classes within property, plant and equipment. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. Gains and 
losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains and 
losses are included in profit or loss. 

Depreciation rates 

The estimated useful lives applied for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

Class of Fixed Asset Useful Life 

Buildings 5 - 40 years 

Infrastructure 

Dams and weirs 10-150 years 

Water treatment plants 5 - 100 years 

Pipelines and others 5 - 150 years 

Plant and equipment 

Motor vehicles and boats 3 - 15 years 

Other equipment 3 - 15 years 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-5 Impairment 

Indicators of impairment and determining recoverable amount 

All property, plant and equipment assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or, 
where the asset is measured at fair value, for indicators of a change in fair value/service potential since 
the last valuation was completed. Where indicators of a material change in fair value or service potential 
since the last valuation arise, the asset is revalued at the reporting date under AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. If an indicator of possible impairment exists, the Entity determines the asset's recoverable 
amount under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair 
value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are 
grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the "cash-generating 
unit"). 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. 

Recognising impairment losses 

For assets measured at fair value, the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease and offset 
against the asset revaluation surplus of the asset to the extent available. Where no asset revaluation 
surplus is available in respect of the asset, the loss is expensed in the statement of comprehensive 
income as a revaluation decrement. 

For assets measured at cost, the impairment loss is recognised immediately in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

Reversal of impairment losses 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior years. 

For assets measured at fair value, to the extent the original decrease was expensed through the 
statement of comprehensive income, the reversal is recognised in income, otherwise the reversal is 
treated as a revaluation increase for the asset through asset revaluation surplus. 

For assets measured at cost, impairment losses are reversed through income. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-6 Property, plant and equipment - balances and reconciliation of carrying amount 

2020 Land Buildings Infrastructure Plant and Work in Total 
Water equipment progress 

Dams and treatment Pipelines and 
weirs plants other 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Gross or fair value 618,725 11,789 3,584,121 2,997,401 3,672,010 49,922 167,965 11,101,933 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (22,982) (22,982) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 618,725 11,789 3,584,121 2,997,401 3,672,010 26,940 167,965 11,078,951 

Represented by movements in carrying 
amount: 

Carrying amount at 1 July 2019 535,967 10,208 3,613,684 3,088,514 3,725,461 22,587 128,432 11,124,853 

Acquisitions 6,391 2,962 127,148 136,501 

Transfer between classes 17,217 38,786 23,471 8,141 (87,615) 
Valuation increments (decrements) to 
P&L 35,686 (724) 34,962 

Valuation increments to equity 41,566 2,781 44,347 

Disposal (885) (820) (1,705) 

Depreciation for the year (476) (46,780) (129,899) (76,922) (5,930) (260,007) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 618,725 11,789 3,584,121 2,997,401 3,672,010 26,940 167,965 11,078,951 

Carrying amount under cost model at 
30 June 2020 509,610 8,971 1,728,287 1,897,933 3,301,104 26,940 167,965 7,640,810 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-6 Property, plant and equipment - balances and reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) 

2019 Land Buildings Infrastructure Plant and Work in Total 
Water equipment progress 

Dams and treatment Pipelines 
weirs plants and other 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Gross or fair value 535,967 10,208 3,613,684 3,088,514 3,725,461 41,976 128,432 11,144,242 
Less: accumulated depreciation (19,389) (19,389) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 535,967 10,208 3,613,684 3,088,514 3,725,461 22,587 128,432 11,124,853 

Represented by movements in carrying 
amount: 
Balance at 1 July 2018 533,280 10,691 3,617,496 3,182,096 3,785,922 20,537 92,856 11,242,878 

Acquisitions 3,087 137,775 140,862 

Transfer between classes 42,430 35,397 16,388 7,984 (102,199) 

Disposal (400) (252) (652) 

Depreciation for the year (483) (46,242) (128,979) (76,849) (5,682) (258,235) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 535,967 10,208 3,613,684 3,088,514 3,725,461 22,587 128,432 11,124,853 

Carrying amount under cost model at 
30 June 2019 504,355 9,300 1,732,987 1,934,376 3,345,754 22,587 128,432 7,677,791 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-7 Valuation of property, plant and equipment including key estimates and judgements 

The Board has adopted the following policies in respect of the measurement of fair value: 

Class Method of measurement of fair value 
Frequency of 

measurement * 
Land Professional valuation - market value 5 years 

Professional valuation - market value/ current replacement 
Buildinqs cost 5 vears 
Infrastructure Board adopted valuation - income approach 5 vears 

*Valuations are more frequent where the Board considers that there are indicators that period-end carrying values 
materially differ to their fair values. 

The Entity has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This 
includes a valuation team that oversees all significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair 
values, and reports directly to the General Manager Corporate Services. Discussions of valuation 
processes and results are held between the General Manager Corporate Services and the Audit and Risk 
Committee at least once a year in line with the Entity's annual reporting dates. 

Land 

Land was valued by an internal professional valuer between February and June 2020 with an effective 
date of 30 June 2020. The valuations were performed using the fair value principle by reference to 
observable prices in an active market as well as recent market transactions on an arm's length basis. A 
random sample of 5% of the valuation results were assessed by an external valuation professional, 
Herron Todd White, to certify appropriate methodology and practice had been adhered to. 

Additions since the time of the independent valuations have been recorded at cost. 

Land with a total value of $26,496,275 (2019: $28,429,851) representing reserve land is not included in 
the carrying value of land. As the land is retained by the Queensland Government, however, the 
economic benefit of the land accrues to the Entity and the land is administered by the Entity on behalf of 
the Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy (held in their Statement of Financial Position). 

Comprehensive revaluation by a professional valuer is undertaken every 5 years. 

Buildings 

Office buildings and rental properties were valued by an internal professional valuer, with an effective date 
of 30 June 2020. The valuations were performed using the fair value principles: 

• where an "active liquid market" is available for an asset, that market price represents the 
best evidence of an assets fair value; and 

• where an "active liquid market" for the asset does not exist, the best indication of its fair 
value is "current replacement cost". 

Additions since the time of the valuations have been recorded at cost. 

Comprehensive revaluation and condition assessment by a professional valuer are undertaken every 5 
years. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-7 Valuation of property, plant and equipment including key estimates and judgements 
(continued) 

Infrastructure assets 

An income-based approach to fair value (adopting market participant principles as required by accounting 
standard AASB13 Fair Value Measurement) was undertaken as at 30 June 2020. The income approach 
converts multiple future cash flow amounts to a single current (i.e. discounted) amount. When the income 
approach is used, the fair value measurement reflects current market expectations about those future 
amounts. 

The following key estimates and judgements have been applied in adopting the income-based approach 
for valuation: 

• drought likelihood probability has been factored into valuation inputs by the inclusion of a drought 
overlay scenario weighting, blending the drought and fair-weather asset valuation profiles; 

• a demand forecast for physical sale projections and ongoing levels of service requirements that is 
considered 'most likely' given current trends; 

• estimated future cash flows, based on management's estimate, have been projected over 30 years 
and discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset; 

• the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) discount rate of 5.95% (2019: 6.0%) has been used 
to discount cash flows and has been developed from a market participant perspective; 

• future capital expenditure and related revenues relating to restructuring or improving asset 
performance have been included in the cash flows, including forecast expenditure on water supply 
augmentation from the financial year 2028 as set out in the South East Queensland's Water 
Security Program 2016-2046 (Version 2); 

• fixed and variable operational expenditure derived from the Board approved 2020-21 Budget, 
extrapolated post financial year 2025 based on forecast production; and 

• the projected regulatory asset base value (at a multiple of 1) has been used to compute the 
terminal value of the valuation. 

The following pricing scenarios and weightings have been applied in the computed valuation of 
infrastructure assets. This approach is consistent with prior year's methodology of assigning likelihood 
weightings to pricing scenarios post 2028 when the current price path period concludes. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-7 Valuation of property, plant and equipment including key estimates and judgements 
(continued) 

In the context of pricing scenarios, the current intention is to continue the bulk water price path which 
incorporates the repayment of Price Path debt by financial year 2028. Post this date the following pricing 
scenarios and weightings will be applied. 

Pricing Scenario assumptions 2020 2019 
scenario 

1 
QCA bulk water price path (including FY2023 reset) to 

40% 40% 
FY2028, then annual CPI increases (2.5% pa) 

QCA bulk water price path (including FY2023 reset) to 
2 FY2028, then full Maximum Allowed Revenue (MAR)* 10% 10% 

reversion from FY2029 

QCA bulk water price path (including FY2023 reset) to 
3 FY2028, then a linear regression to MAR at next bulk 50% 50% 

augmentation completion date. 

*Maximum allowed revenue (MAR) is the revenue the Entity can recover from its customers and is detenmined by the 
Queensland Competition Authority (QCA) with reference to four building blocks. These building blocks - operating 
expenditure, return on capital, return of capital and tax - are estimates of the various costs the Entity needs to incur 
to prudently and efficiently provide services to its customers over the regulatory period. 

The occurrence of drought materially changes key estimates and inputs. As at reporting date the 
likelihood of drought occurring has increased to a value of 8% and may continue to increase over the next 
12 months. In consideration of this material change the 2020 asset valuation has been prepared with the 
inclusion of a drought overlay probability weighting, effectively blending two distinct valuations: drought 
and fair-weather valuation profiles. 

Valuation Profile assumptions 2020 2019 
profile 

Fair- Base assumptions for demand, operational and capital 
92% 94% 

weather expenditure and pricing. 

Drought overlay assumptions factor in water restrictions, 
Drought increased operational and capital expenditure, and pricing 8% 6% 

impacts. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C3 Property, plant and equipment and related depreciation expense (continued) 

C3-7 Valuation of property, plant and equipment including key estimates and judgements 
(continued) 

Inherent uncertainty 
The current methodology, and Management estimates used as part of the income approach fair value 
calculation, contain inherent uncertainty derived from: 

• pricing regulation post 2028 and the weighted pricing scenarios; 

• impacts of unforeseen droughts and floods to management estimates; 

• impacts of unforeseen future population and consumption projections; 

• the level of service obligations of a market participant in relation to expected capital augmentation 
outlays; and 

• the restricted freedom of utilisation of the infrastructure asset base. 

Management have used the most reasonable assumptions and estimates available at this time, as the 
basis for the fair value modelling. 

The income-based valuation calculates the value of the Entity as a whole. From this value other non
current assets (land, buildings, plant and equipment, work in progress and intangible assets) are 
deducted, and the remaining value is apportioned to individual infrastructure assets on the basis of their 
depreciated replacement cost or cost. 

Information about the valuation of property, plant and equipment is provided in Note D1. 

Refinement in pricing scenarios and assessment of weightings 

There is significant uncertainty regarding pricing beyond 2028. The Entity will continue to review and 
refine its assumptions regarding pricing each year, and will make changes as appropriate, and as the 
likely outcome(s) become clearer. 

In assessing the scenarios, and the application of the weightings, the Entity considered: 

• the likely expectations from Government in a hypothetical sale of the assets, particularly avoidance 
of price shock/volatility for consumers and providing certainty to a purchaser regarding the ability to 
earn an adequate return on investment; 

• domestic and international precedents in regard to the sale of public assets; and 

• the application of a regulated pricing framework. 

In recognition of the above considerations Management has determined that the pricing scenarios 
included in the 2019 financial statements remain valid and that the weightings as applied in the 2019 
financial year remain unchanged as at 30 June 2020. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C4 Intangible assets 

C4-1 Recognition of intangible assets 

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Entity are initially measured at cost. 

Items of intangible assets with a cost or other value equal to, or in excess of, the following thresholds are 
recognised for financial reporting purposes in the year of acquisition: 

Land easement 

Software purchased 

Other intangible 

$1 

$100,000 

$100,000 

Items with a lesser value are expensed in the year of acquisition. 

Where there is an active and liquid market, intangible assets are carried at a revalued amount; otherwise 
they are carried at cost after initial recognition. If revalued, the same rules apply as to those for property, 
plant and equipment. 

It has been determined that there is not an active market for any of the Entity's intangible assets. As such, 
the assets are recognised and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses where applicable. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 
the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in the profit or loss. 

Intangible assets are subject to amortisation and impairment testing. 

C4-2 Amortisation 

Amortisation is recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets from the date that they are available for use. 

The estimated useful lives applied for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

Class of Intangible Asset Useful Life 

Land easements 70 - 150 years 

Software purchased 5 years 

Other intangible 40 years 

C4-3 Impairment 

All intangible assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis. If an indicator of 
possible impairment exists, the Entity determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any amount by which 
the asset's carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 

Intangible assets are principally assessed for Impairment by reference to the actual and expected 
continuing use of the asset by the Entity, including discontinuing the use of software and land easements. 
Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value
in-use. 
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C4 Intangible assets (continued) 

Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the rear ended 30 June 2020 

C4-4 Intangible assets - balances and reconciliation of carrying amount 
-----------------------------------

2020 Land Software 
easements• purchased 

$000 $000 

Gross 152,809 18,440 

Less: accumulated amortisation (14,493) (12,294) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 138,316 6,146 

Represented by movements in carrying amount: 

Balance at 1 July 2019 139,917 6,879 

Acquisitions 355 
Transfers between classes 1,820 

Disposal (124) 

Amortisation for the year (1,956) (2,429) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 138,316 6,146 

*the remaining amortisation period for Land Easements is 71 years. 

Other Software work in 
intangibles 

$000 

5,002 

(2,041) 

2,961 

3,084 

(123) 

2,961 

progress 
$000 

10,976 

10,976 

6,082 

6,714 
(1,820) 

10,976 

Total 
$000 

187,227 

(28,828) 

158,399 

155,962 

7,069 

(124) 

(4,508) 

158,399 
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C4 Intangible assets (continued) 

Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the rear ended 30 June 2020 

C4-4 Intangible assets - balances and reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) 

2019 Software Other 
Land easements purchased intangibles 

$000 $000 $000 
Gross 152,454 18,526 5,002 

Less: accumulated amortisation (12,537) (11,647) (1,918) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 139,917 6,879 3,084 

Represented by movements in carrying amount: 

Balance at 1 July 2018 140,400 7,095 3,206 

Acquisitions 1,466 

Transfers between classes 2,415 

Disposal 

Amortisation for the year (1,949) (2,631) (122) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 139,917 6,879 3,084 

Software work in 
progress 

$000 
6,082 

6,082 

5,421 

3,076 

(2,415) 

6,082 

Total 
$000 

182,064 

(26,102) 

155,962 

156,122 

4,542 

(4,702) 

155,962 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

CS Trade and other payables 

Current 
Trade and other payables 

Total 

Non-current 
Other payables 

Total 

2020 
$000 

35,208 

35,208 

2019 
$000 

58,970 

58,970 

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the 
agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are 
unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day terms. 

C6 Employee benefits 

2020 2019 
$000 $000 

Current 
Salaries and wages accrued 4,587 1,665 
Liability for long service leave 10,673 10,331 
Liability for annual leave 9,749 8,784 

Total 25,009 20,780 

Non-current 
Liability for long service leave 3,599 2,080 

Total 3,599 2,080 

Long service leave movement 

2020 2019 
$000 $000 

Balance at 1 July 12,411 11,209 
Additional provision made 1,428 2,415 
Provision utilised through payments (1,067) (1,213) 
Changes in discount rate/ passage of time 1,500 

Balance at 30 June 14,272 12,411 

Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for short-term employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave represent present 
obligations resulting from employees' services provided up to the reporting date and are calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Entity expects to pay as at 
the reporting date, including applicable related on-costs. 

For those entitlements not expected to be paid within 12 months, the liabilities are recognised at their 
present value, calculated using yields on fixed rate high quality corporate bonds of similar maturity. 

Non-vesting sick leave is recognised as an expense as it is taken. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C6 Employee benefits (continued) 

Long service leave 
The long service leave provision represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made resulting from employees' services provided up to balance date. The provision is calculated using 
the "shorthand measurement techniques" whereby 107% (2019: 97%) valuation factor is applied to the 
aggregate accrued long service leave liability. The valuation factor is reviewed periodically by Mercer 
Consulting (Australia) Pty Ltd, an independent actuarial firm, to ensure that it remains appropriate. The 
last valuation date is 30 June 2020. 

C7 Interest bearing liabilities 

2020 2019 
$000 $000 

Current 
QTC - Loans interest payable 36,657 40,898 

Total 36,657 40,898 

Non-current 
QTC- Loans 9,384,583 9,384,583 
Total 9,384,583 9,384,583 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, plus any transaction costs directly attributable to the 
borrowings, and then subsequently held at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Any borrowing costs are added to the carrying amount of the borrowing to the extent they are not settled 
in the period in which they arise. Borrowings are split between current and non-current liabilities using the 
principles set out in the foreword and preparation information section of this financial report. 

On 22 June 2020, QTC issued a letter confirming that the debt owing by the Entity under its long-term 
debt facility is not repayable within one year from 30 June 2020. 

No assets have been pledged as security for any liabilities. 

All borrowings are in Australian dollar denominated amounts with interest being expensed as it accrues, 
except for assets under construction (refer to Note B4 ). There have been no defaults or breaches of the 
loan agreement during the financial years. There is no early debt repayment planned. 

Loan interest is payable monthly in arrears on the first day of the new month. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C7 Interest bearing liabilities (continued) 

Carrying amount of outstanding loans were as follows: 

2020 
$000 

QTC - Water Grid Debt 2,157,458 
QTC - Drought Assets Debt 5,404,919 

QTC - Non-Drought Assets Debt 1,858,863 

Total 9,421,240 

Loans interest payable 36,657 

Loans principal 9,384,583 

Total 9,421,240 

2019 
$000 

2,157,528 
5,407,912 

1,860,041 

9,425,481 

40,898 

9,384,583 

9,425,481 

The Weighted Average Borrowing Rate for QTC borrowings as at 30 June 2020 is 4.84% (2019: 5.07%). 
Interest payments are made monthly in arrears at rates ranging from 4.76% to 4.98% (2019: 4.96% to 
5.28%). Refer to Note D2-2 for sensitivity analysis. 

C7-1 Funding facilities 

The State Borrowing Program funding application is submitted annually by the Entity and is approved by 
the Queensland Government. The funding facility is maintained by QTC. The Entity did not apply for the 
State Borrowing Program funding for 2019-20. 

C7-2 Credit standby arrangement 

Drawn 

Unused 

Total Facility 

2020 
$000 

200,000 

200,000 

2019 
$000 

200,000 

200,000 

The credit standby facility remains fully undrawn at 30 June 2020 and is available for use in the next 
reporting period. The current overdraft interest rate is 0.65% (2019: 2.02%) 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

CS Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 

Deferred income tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised for the following temporary 
differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent that that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred income tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset (DTA) is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which temporary differences can be utilised. DTAs are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. 

CS-1 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

2020 Assets Liabilities Net 

$000 $000 $000 
Property, plant and equipment (1,296,133) (1,296,133) 

Lease liability 76 76 

Provision for employee benefits 8,316 8,316 

Tax losses 1,012,282 1,012,282 

Government grant 88,059 88,059 

Inventory (583) (583) 

Accrued expenses 1,130 1,130 

Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 1,109,863 (1,296,716) (186,853) 

2019 Assets Liabilities Net 

$000 $000 $000 
Property, plant and equipment (1,298,604) (1,298,604) 

Provision for employee benefits 6,359 6,359 

Tax losses 1,044,066 1,044,066 

Government grant 91,473 91,473 

Inventory (513) (513) 

Accrued expenses 1,588 1,588 

Total deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 1,143,486 {1,299,117) {155,631) 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

CS Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued) 

CS-2 Movement in temporary differences during the year 

Recognised 
in profit or 

2019 loss 
$000 $000 

Property, plant and equipment (1,298,604) 15,776 
Lease liability 76 
Provision 6,359 1,957 
Tax losses 1,044,066 (31,784) 
Government grant 91,473 (3,414) 
Inventory (513) (70) 
Accrued expenses 1,588 (458) 

Total (155,631) (17,917) 

Recognised 
in profit or 

2018 loss 

$000 $000 
Property, plant and equipment (1,323,677) 25,073 
Provision 5,791 568 
Tax losses 1,056,065 (11,999) 
Government grant 94,889 (3,416) 
Inventory (882) 369 
Accrued expenses 1,330 258 

Total (166,484) 10,853 

CS-3 Tax losses 

Acquired 
in equity 

$000 

(13,305) 

(13,305) 

Acquired 
in equity 

$000 

-

2020 
$000 

(1,296,133) 
76 

8,316 
1,012,282 

88,059 
(583) 
1,130 

(186,853) 

2019 

$000 
(1,298,604) 

6,359 
1,044,066 

91,473 
(513) 

1,588 

(155,631) 

A DTA is recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which they can be utilised. DTAs are reviewed at each reporting date and are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

During the year ended 30 June 2020, $105,931,818 of tax losses were utilised (2019: $39,996,924) with 
tax losses carried forward at 30 June 2020 amounting to $3,374 million (2019: $3,480 million). A DTA of 
$1,012 million has been recognised in relation to these carry forward tax losses as it is considered 
probable that future taxable profits will be generated against which the tax losses could be utilised. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C9 Other liabilities 

Note 2020 
$000 

Current 
Unearned revenue - government grant B1-2 11,382 

Other 459 

Total 11,841 

Non-current 
Unearned revenue - government grant B1-2 282,146 

Total 282,146 

C10 Right of use assets and lease liabilities 

2019 
$000 

11,382 

459 

11,841 

293,528 

293,528 

A new accounting standard AASB 16 Leases came into effect in 2019-20, resulting in significant changes 
to the Entity's accounting for leases for which it is lease. The transitional impacts of the new standard and 
the Entity's newly adopted lease accounting policies in 2019-20 are disclosed in Note E3. 

C10-1 Leases as Lessee 

Right-of-use assets 

Building Lease 
Opening balance at 1 July 
Additions 

Depreciation charge 
Disposals / Derecognition 

Other adjustments 

Closing balance at 30 June 

Lease liabilities 

Current 
Lease liabilities 

Non-current 
Lease liabilities 

Total 

2020 
$000 

5,900 

(592) 

5,308 

2020 
$000 

386 

5,176 

5,562 

2019 
$000 

2019 
$000 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C10 Right of use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 
C10-1 Leases as Lessee (continued) 

The Entity measures right-of-use assets at cost subsequent to initial recognition. The Entity has elected 
not to recognise right-of -use assets and lease liabilities arising from short-term leases and leases of low 
value assets. The lease payments are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. An asset is considered low value where it is expected to cost less than $10,000 when new. 

Where a contract has both lease and non-lease components such as cleaning services, the Entity 
allocates the contractual payments to each component on the basis of their stand-alone prices. However, 
for leases of plant and equipment, the Entity has elected not to separate lease and non-lease 
components and instead accounts for them as a single lease component. 

When measuring the lease liability, the Entity uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate 
where the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. To determine the incremental 
borrowing rate, the Entity uses loan rates provided Queensland Treasury Corporation that correspond to 
the commencement date and the term of the lease. 

Details of leasing arrangements as lessee 

Office In June 2019, the Entity signed a 10-year commercial lease for office 
accommodation with accommodation in Brisbane City. Lease payments for this lease are initially fixed 
non-related party and are subject to market rent review at the fifth year and fixed rent increments in 

other years, nil option to extend. Refer to Note C10-1 for further details. 

Office In March 2014, The Entity entered a 15-year office accommodation arrangement 
accommodation with The Department of Housing and Public Works (DHPW) for the Ipswich office. 
lease with QLD As this arrangement is under the Government-wide frameworks and categorised 
Government as procurement of services rather than as leases because DHPW has substantive 

substitution rights over the assets. The related expenses are included in Note B3. 

Leasehold Land The Entity leases land from the Department of Natural Resources, Mines and 
Energy (DNRME). The total annual leasehold land payments are less than 
$20,000. 

Due to the immaterial payment amount, the Entity is treating these leases under 
the low value exemption of AASB 16. The related payments are recognised as 
supplies and consumables in Note B3 when incurred. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C10 Right of use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 
C10-1 Leases as Lessee (continued) 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 
Expenses relating to office accommodation with 
QLD Government 

Expenses relating to leasehold lands 

Total cash outflow for leases 

Operating lease commitment at 30 June 2019 

Less than one year 

Between one and five years 

More than five years 

Total 

C10-2 Leases as Lessor 

Details of leasing arrangements as lessor 

2020 

$000 

319 

2,792 

16 

658 

The Entity receives revenue from various parties for the exclusive right-to-use of the assets. 

2019 

$000 

2019 
$000 
3,634 

15,831 

20,219 

39,684 

Grazing leases Amounts receive for the exclusive use of land areas for cattle grazing. These 
leases are registered on title and can be re-assigned to new landowners. In this 
instance, the underlying asset is catchment land which has an enduring life and is 
an integral component of water allocation, hence, the land cannot be sold without 
restrictions that ensure the quality of catchment water. 

Property/ Facility The Entity leases residential properties and commercial facilities in various 
Lease catchment areas to third parties. Due to the nature of these assets and 

significance to the Entity's core business, none of these assets will be sold to the 
lessees. 

Lease income from operating lease is reported as other revenue in Note B1-3. 

The Entity does not have any financial leases. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

C10 Right of use assets and lease liabilities (continued) 

C10-2 Leases as Lessor (continued) 

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of future undiscounted lease payments receivable under 
the Entity's operating leases. 

2020 2019 

$000 $000 

Less than one year 681 548 

Between one and five years 1,624 1,204 

More than five years 8,741 4,092 

Total 11,046 5,844 

C11 Asset revaluation surplus by asset class 

2020 Land Building Infrastructure Total 
$000 $000 $000 $000 

Balance at 1 July 2019 79,326 2,022 2,643,498 2,724,846 

Transfer between classes 
Revaluation increments / 
(decrements) 41,566 2,781 44,347 

Asset revaluation on disposal 

Deferred tax liabilities (12,470) (835) (13,305) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 108,422 3,968 2,643,498 2,755,888 

2019 Land Building Infrastructure Total 
$000 $000 $000 $000 

Balance at 1 July 2018 79,326 2,022 2,643,498 2,724,846 

Transfer between classes 
Revaluation increments / 
(decrements) 

Asset revaluation on disposal 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Balance at 30 June 2019 79,326 2,022 2,643,498 2,724,846 

The asset revaluation surplus represents the net effect of upwards and downwards revaluation of assets 
to fair value. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

SECTION 4 

NOTES ABOUT RISK AND OTHER ACCOUNTING UNCERTAINTIES 

D1 Fair value measurement 

D1-1 Accounting policies and basis for fair value measurement 

A number of the Entity's accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. 
exit price) regardless of whether the price is directly derived from observable inputs or estimated using 
another valuation technique. 

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued. Observable inputs used by the Entity include, but are not limited to, 
published sales data for land, general office buildings and residential houses. 

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are 
relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. Significant unobservable inputs used 
by the Entity include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments made to observable data to take 
account of the characteristics of the Entity's assets/liabilities, internal records of recent construction costs 
(and/or estimates of such costs) for assets' characteristics/functionality, and assessments of physical 
condition and remaining useful life. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and 
reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use. 

All assets and liabilities of the Entity for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial 
statements are categorised within the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions 
used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

• Level 1 - represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in 
active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

• Level 2 - represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than 
quoted prices included within level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3 - represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable 
inputs. 

Except for cash and cash equivalents, none of the Entity's valuations of assets or liabilities are eligible for 
categorisation into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers of assets between fair value 
hierarchy levels during the period. 

Property, plant and equipment 

The fair value of land, buildings and infrastructure is measured as follows: 

• where there is an active and liquid market for assets similar in type and condition, the fair value of 
an asset is its price in that market; and 

• where there is no market price for the assets, fair value is either the depreciated replacement cost 
or the net present value of the cash flows from the asset. 

More specific fair value information about the Entity's Property, Plant and Equipment is outlined in Note 
C3-7. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

D1 Fair value measurement (continued} 

D1-2 Categorisation of fair values 

Level2 Level3 Total 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Land 618,725 535,967 - - 618,725 535,967 

Building 11,789 10,208 - - 11,789 10,208 

Infrastructure - - 10,253,532 10,427,659 10,253,532 10,427,659 

The Entity recognises any evident transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporting period during which the change has occurred. 

D1-3 Level 3 significant valuation inputs and relationship to fair value 

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs 
used in recurring level 3 fair value measurements. 

Revenue cash flows for the financial year 2021 to (and A higher allowed 

including) financial year 2028 are based on the current rate of return 
QCA bulk water price path to 30 June 2022, and the increases the fair 

estimated QCA bulk water price path from 2023 to 2028. value. 

The QCA bulk water price path has been determined A higher demand 
using a building block approach and regulatory pricing forecast increases 
principles. the fair value. 
Demand forecast for physical sales projections have 
been forecast based on the 'most likely' growth scenario 

based on current trends. ---------------------+---------------------+----------; 
Operating 
Expenditure 

Operating expenditures are based on the corporate plans A lower operating 
of management reflecting the expenditure required to expenditure 

operate and maintain the assets. increases the fair 

value. - --·- -·--·-·--·--- - --+---------------------+----------; 
Capital 

Expenditure 

Future capital expenditure required to ensure the security A lower future 

and reliability are based on South East Queensland's capital expenditure 
Water Security Program 2016-2046 (Version 2), and the increases the fair 

current Board approved Asset Portfolio Master Plan 

APMP Janua 2020 . 

value. 

---·- -·--·-·--·--- ·-----+-'"----~-~~--------------------l 
Terminal value Terminal value is based on the QCA accepted regulated 

asset base and a terminal value multiple of 1.00. 

A higher terminal 

value and multiple 
increases the fair 
value. ---·--·--·-·--·------+---------------------+---------1 

Weighted A post tax nominal WACC of 5.95% (with a range of 
Average Cost of 5.55% - 6.35 %) has been applied in the valuation. The 
Capital (WACC) WACC discount rate used is based on professional 
discount rate valuation advice and is considered the best estimate of a 

Ion -term view of the market cost of ca ital. 

The higher the 
nominal vanilla 
WACC, the lower 
the fair value. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

D1 Fair value measurement (continued} 

D1-3 Level 3 significant valuation inputs and relationship to fair value (continued) 

11,281 Revenue Revenue cash flows for the financial year 2019 to (and A higher allowed 

forecast including) financial year 2028 are based on the current rate of return 
QCA bulk water price path to 30 June 2021, and the increases the fair 

estimated QCA bulk water price path from 2022 to 2028. value. 
The QCA bulk water price path has been determined A higher demand 

using a building block approach and regulatory pricing forecast increases 

principles. the fair value. 
Demand forecast for physical sales projections have 
been forecast based on the 'most likely' growth scenario 

based on current trends. - ---- -------------
Operating Operating expenditures are based on the corporate plans A lower operating 
Expenditure of management reflecting the expenditure required to expenditure 

operate and maintain the assets. increases the fair 

value. ------------------
Capital Future capital expenditure required to ensure the security A lower future 

Expenditure and reliability are based on South East Queensland's capital expenditure 
Water Security Program 2016-2046 (Version 2), and the increases the fair 

current Board approved Asset Plan Master Plan (APMP value. 
A ril 2019 . ------------------

i Terminal value Terminal value is based on the QCA accepted regulated A higher terminal 
i asset base and a terminal value multiple of 1.00. value and multiple 

increases the fair 

value. - --·- -·--·-·--·---
Weighted A post tax nominal WACC of 6.0% (with a range of 5.75% The higher the 

Average Cost of - 6.25 %) has been applied in the valuation. The WACC nominal vanilla 
Capital (WACC) discount rate used is based on professional valuation WACC, the lower 

discount rate advice and is considered the best estimate of a long-term the fair value. 
view of the market cost of ca ital. --·- -·--·-·--·---

A fair value assessment for the Entity was undertaken as at 30 June 2020 using the income approach 
methodology which determined the fair value to be $11.2B (2019: $11.3B). 

D1-4 Fair value disclosures for financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost 

The Entity does not recognise any financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value, except for cash and 
cash equivalents. 

The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the value of the 
original transaction, less any allowance for impairment. 

The fair value of borrowings which is determined for disclosure purposes is notified by QTC and 
calculated using discounted cash flow analysis and the effective interest rate. The fair value is determined 
by reference to published price quotations in an active market and reflects the value of the debt if the 
Entity repaid it in full at balance date. As it is the intention of the Entity to hold its borrowing for their full 
term, no adjustment provision is made in these accounts. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

D1 Fair value measurement (continued} 
D1-4 Fair value disclosures for financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost 
(continued) 

2020 

QTC borrowings - loans 

Total 

2019 

QTC borrowings - loans 

Total 

D1-5 Impairment testing for Cash Generating Unit (CGU) 

Carrying amount 
$000 

9,421,240 

9,421,240 

Carrying amount 
$000 

9,425,481 

9,425,481 

The Entity has a single CGU for the purposes of impairment testing. 

Fair value 
$000 

11,881,927 

11,881,927 

Fair value 
$000 

11,617,443 

11,617,443 

An annual assessment as to whether there is any indication that the CGU may be impaired has been 
performed, which includes the following areas: 

• market value of the asset; 

• negative change in technology, market, economic conditions, or law; 

• Weighted Average Cost of Capital; 

• obsolescence or physical damage to the asset; and 

• asset idleness, discontinued or restructured operations. 

The Board has assessed that there are no indicators of impairment at 30 June 2020. 

D2 Financial risk disclosures 
D2-1 Financial instrument categories 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the 
Entity becomes party to the contractual provision of the financial instrument. The Entity has the following 
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities: 

Category 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Trade and other receivables 

Total 

Financial liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Other financial liabilities - QTC 
borrowing 

Total 

Note 

C1 
C2 

C5 

C7 

2020 2019 

$000 $000 

313,997 214,797 

149,381 142,041 

463,378 356,838 

35,208 58,970 

9,421,240 9,425,481 

9,456,448 9,484,451 

No financial assets and financial liabilities have been offset and presented net in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2020 

D2 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 

D2-2 Financial risk management 

The Entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk, liquidity risk, and interest 
rate risk. Exposure to financial risks is managed in accordance with the Entity's approved policies on 
financial risk management. These policies focus on managing the volatility of financial markets and seek 
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Entity. The Entity measures risk 
exposure using a variety of methods as follows: 

Risk Exposure 

Credit risk 

Liquidity risk 

Markel risk - interest rate 

Credit risk exposure 

Measurement Method 

Ageing analysis 

Maturity analysis 

Sensitivity analysis 

Credit risk exposure refers to the situation where the Entity may incur a financial loss as a result of 
another party to a financial instrument failing to discharge their obligations. 

The Entity is exposed to credit risk through its customers, investments with QTC and deposits held with 
banks. The Entity has a concentration of credit risk from receivables due from its customers. The QTC 
cash fund is an asset management portfolio that invests with a wide variety of high credit rating 
counterparts. Deposits are capital guaranteed. Other investments are held with highly rated and regulated 
financial institutions and whilst not capital guaranteed the likelihood of a credit failure is considered 
remote. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment. The carrying 
amount of receivables represents the maximum exposure to credit risk (refer to Note C2). 

No collateral is held as security and no credit enhancements relate to financial assets held by the Entity. 

The following table represents the Entity's maximum exposure to credit risk based on contractual 
amounts net of any allowances: 

2020 2019 
$000 $000 

Category 
Financial liabilities 
Guarantee D3 705 950 
Total 705 950 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

D2 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 

D2-2 Financial risk management (continued) 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk refers to the situation where the Entity may encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. The Entity is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal 
course of business and borrowings from the QTC for asset acquisitions and capital works. The Entity 
manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities, both 
short and long-term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows. 

100% (2019: 100%) of QTC borrowings are interest only with no fixed repayment date for the principal 
component. For the purposes of producing the maturity analysis, only the principal amount has been 
allocated to the over five-year lime band. 

The following tables set out the liquidity risk of financial liabilities held by the Entity. II represents the 
contractual maturity of financial liabilities, calculated based on cash flows relating to the repayment of the 
principal amount outstanding at balance date. 

2020 Payable in Total 
Financial liabilities <1 year 1-5years >5years 

$000 $000 $000 $000 
QTC borrowings - loans 454,075 1,815,942 9,384,583 11,654,600 
Trade and other payables 35,208 35,208 

Total 489,283 1,815,942 9,384,583 11,689,808 

2019 Pa:table in Total 

Financial liabilities <1 year 1-5 years >5years 

$000 $000 $000 $000 
QTC borrowings - loans 478,357 1,902,761 9,384,583 11,765,701 
Trade and other payables 58,970 58,970 

Total 537,327 1,902,761 9,384,583 11,824,671 
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D2 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 

D2-2 Financial risk management (continued) 

Market risk - interest rate 

The Entity is exposed to interest rate risk through its borrowings from QTC and cash deposited in interest 
bearing accounts. The risk in borrowing is effectively managed through QTC's capacity to issue securities 
with variable terms allowing an appropriate duration for debt. The Entity manages its loan portfolio by 
setting, monitoring and adjusting the terms and duration as allowed under its commercial financing 
contract with QTC. 

The Entity does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to commodity price ranges. 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The following sensitivity analysis depicts the outcome to the Statement of Comprehensive Income if 
interest rates change by +/- 1 % from the year-end rates applicable to the Entity's financial assets and 
liabilities. The calculations assume that the rate would be held constant over the next financial year, with 
the change occurring at the beginning of that year. This is mainly attributable to the Entity's exposure to 
variable interest rates on its borrowings from QTC. 

2020 -1% +1% 
Net carrying 

amounts Profit Equity Profit Equity 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Cash and cash equivalents 313,997 (3,140) (3,140) 3,140 3,140 

QTC borrowings - loans 9,421,240 4,508 4,508 3,688 3,688 

Overall effect on profit and equity 1,368 1,368 548 548 

2019 -1% +1% 
Net carrying 

amounts Profit Equity Profit Equity 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Cash and cash equivalents 214,797 (2,148) (2,148) 2,148 2,148 

QTC borrowings - loans 9,425,481 3,949 3,949 3,374 3,374 

Overall effect on profit and equity 1,801 1,801 1,226 1,226 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

D2 Financial risk disclosures (continued) 

D2-3 Capital management 

The Entity must give the responsible Ministers an estimate of its net profit for the year, and a 
recommendation on the amount of annual return to be paid. The recommendation is to be provided to 
Ministers between 1 and 15 May prior to the end of the financial year. Before the end of the financial 
year, the responsible Ministers must either approve the recommendation or direct the Entity to pay 
another amount (though not more than the estimated net profit previously advised) as decided under 
section 53 of the South East Queensland Water (Restructuring) Act 2007. The return must be paid within 
6 months after the end of the financial year. 

Annual return payable in 2020 is $0 (2019: $0). 

Total borrowings 

Total assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) 

Gearing ratio 

D3 Contingencies 

Insurance claims 

Note 

Cl 

2020 
$000 

9,421,240 

11,407,216 

83% 

The Entity has the following insurance claims in progress as at 30 June 2020: 

2019 
$000 

9,425,481 

11,435,129 

82% 

• in relation to the insurance matter relating to the January 2011 South East Queensland flood (refer 
to the litigation in progress section). 

Financial Guarantees and associated credit risk 

A guarantee is provided to Stanwell Corporation Limited, in respect of the operation and maintenance 
agreement of the Wivenhoe Hydro Plant. The amount guaranteed was $200,000 (2019: $200,000). 

Guarantees were provided in relation to the lease premises at 200 Creek Street, Brisbane. The amount 
guaranteed was $494,851 (2019: $739,607). 

A guarantee is provided to Australian Energy Market Operator Limited as a market participant to comply 
with certain prudential requirements. The amount guaranteed was $10,000 (2019: $10,000). 

No defaults have occurred and the Entity does not expect that the guarantee will be called upon. The 
guarantees are not recognised on the Statement of Financial Position as the probability of default is 
considered remote. 

As financial guarantee contracts are measured in accordance with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Entity has disclosed the details of the guarantee in this note, in 
addition to Note D2-2 Financial Instruments for full transparency purposes. 



Essential Water | Seqwater Annual Report 2019–2078

 0 0 - SM  - Special Board Meeting 13 August - 03 -  019- 0 Annual Financial Statements

5 

Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

D3 Contingencies (continued) 

Litigation in progress 

As at 30 June 2020, the following cases were filed in the courts naming the Entity as defendant: 

• The Entity is presently one of three defendants in representative proceedings filed July 2014 in 
connection with the January 2011 Floods. The trial commenced October 2017 in the Supreme 
Court of New South Wales, with judgement handed down in favour of the plaintiff November 
2019. The Entity has liability insurance that specifically covers this type of event, noting that 
policy parameters will impose a limit on any coverage. 

The Entity is resolute in the belief that it has grounds for appeal and vigorously defends the 
claims brought forward in litigation. Submissions in appeal have been lodged June 2020. 

Al 30 June 2020 $126,584 of damages has been awarded to the lead plaintiff and is subject to 
ongoing appeal. In consideration of appeal grounds, as well as remaining case questions to be 
answered, the Entity provides prior assessment of damages between $0 and $28,000,000 for the 
lead plaintiff, some members of the representative sample group, and estimated legal fees. As for 
the remaining class members, prior assessment of damages required (if any) to settle legal 
obligations that are yet to be determined, is not possible at this time. 

The New South Wales Court of Appeal has tentatively set the appeal down for 3 weeks in 
November 2020, with the Court indicating that ii wishes to deal with all issues from the trial not 
some. Although there are many variables ii is likely that the appeal will not be heard until early to 
mid-2021. 

• a second class action claim, relating to the matter above was filed on 9 January 2017, but has 
been stayed by the Supreme Court of New South Wales. It is not possible to determine whether 
this matter will proceed nor establish any quantum, as the matter has been stayed; 

• a statement of claim against the Entity's contractor in respect of outstanding sub-contractor 
charges, the Entity is named as second defendant; and 

• a claim against the Entity in respect all alleged refusal to access reservoir tower to install 
telecommunications infrastructure under Telemetry Access Permit. 

As at 30 June 2020, the following claim was filed in the courts naming the Entity as plaintiff: 

• a debt recovery claim in respect of outstanding irrigation water charges. 

As at 30 June 2020, the Entity has joined four native title claims as a respondent in areas with Entity 
assets. 

It is not possible to make a reliable estimate of the final amounts payable, if any, in respect to the litigation 
before the courts at this lime. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

D4 Capital commitments 

Capital expenditure commitments 

Capital expenditure commitments inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits if any, contracted for 
at reporting date but not recognised in the accounts are as follows: 

2020 2019 
Property, plant and equipment $000 $000 
Within one year 79,722 60,375 

One year and no later than five years 13,396 3,968 

More than five years 

Total 93,118 64,343 

2020 2019 
Intangible assets $000 $000 
Within one year 1,030 3,074 

One year and no later than five years 

More than five years 

Total 1,030 3,074 

D5 Future impact of accounting standards not yet effective 

All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with future effective dates are either not 
applicable to the Entity's activities or have no material impact on the Entity. 
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SECTION 5 

OTHER INFORMATION 

E1 Key management personnel (KMP) disclosures 

E1-1 Details of Ministerial KMP and remuneration policies 

The Entity's responsible Ministers are identified as part of the Entity's KMP, consistent with additional 
guidance included in the revised version of AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. These Ministers are the 
Hon. Cameron Dick MP, Treasurer, Minister for Infrastructure and Planning, the Hon. Dr Anthony Lynham 
MP, Minister for Natural Resources, Mines and Energy and Ms Jackie Trad, former Treasurer, Minister for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Partnerships up to 10 May 2020. 

Ministerial remuneration entitlements are outlined in the Legislative Assembly of Queensland's Members' 
Remuneration Handbook. The Entity does not bear any cost of remuneration of Ministers. The majority of 
Ministerial entitlements are paid by the Legislative Assembly, with the remaining entitlements being 
provided by Ministerial Services Branch within the Department of the Premier and Cabinet. As all 
Ministers are reported as KMP of the Queensland Government, aggregate remuneration expenses for all 
Ministers is disclosed in the Queensland General Government and Whole of Government Consolidated 
Financial Statements, which are published as part of Queensland Treasury's Report on State Finances. 

E1-2 Details of non-Ministerial KMP and remuneration policies 

The following details for non-Ministerial KMP reflect those positions that had authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Entity during 2019-20. Further information on 
these positions can be found in the body of the Annual Report under the section relating to Governance. 
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for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E1 Key management personnel (KMP) disclosures (continued) 

Board Members remuneration 

Board members' fees include fees paid for membership of the Audit and Risk Committee, the Investment 
and Procurement Committee and the People and Culture Committee. The Board members who were 
paid, or were due to be paid directly or indirectly from the Entity were: 

2020 2019 
Salary and Superannuation Salary and Superannuation 

Fees Contribution Fees Contribution 

$ $ $ $ 
David Hamill 113,500 10,782 84,000 7,980 

Shane McGrath 52,083 4,948 49,500 4,703 

Marina Vit 53,000 5,035 51,833 4,924 

Penny Tovey 52,500 4,988 36,750 3,491 

Marita Corbett 32,858 

Dan Hunt 28,375 2,696 

Samantha Pidgeon 13,250 1,259 

John Dempsey 13,250 1,259 53,000 5,035 

Michael Arnett 14,375 1,366 57,500 5,462 

Total 331,566 28,378 374,208 35,550 

Hon Dr D Hamill appointed as Chairman of the Board on 1 October 2018. 

S McGrath appointed as Member of the Board on 18 December 2014, his term of appointment ended on 30 September 2017. Mr 

McGrath was reappointed as a Member of the Board on 5 January 2018. 

M Vil appointed as Member of the Board on 1 October 2016, her appointment ended on 30 June 2020. 

P Tovey appointed as Member of the Board on 1 October 2018. 

M Corbett appointed as Member of the Board on 13 December 2019. 

D Hunt appointed as Member of the Board on 1 October 2015, his appointment ended on 30 September 2018. 

S Pidgeon appointed as Member of the Board on 1 October 2015, her appointment ended on 30 September 2018. 

J Dempsey appointed as Member of the Board on 23 December 2016, his appointment ended on 30 September 2019. 

M Amell appointed as Member of the Board on 1 January 2013, his appointment ended on 30 September 2019. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E1 Key management personnel (KMP) disclosures (continued) 

Key executive management personnel 

Position Responsibilities 

Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) Ensure the efficient, effective and economic administration of the Entity. 

Manage medium and short-term planning to support bulk water supply 
services. 
Undertake the delivery of projects including the design and construction of 

Chief Operating 
upgrades and renewals on the Entity's infrastructure. 
Lead asset management and technical services including asset 

Officer (COO) information, engineering, water quality and environment. 
Operation and maintenance of catchment and bulk water supply services 
to meet customer service requirements and regulatory obligations. 

Report on, and optimise, asset and operations performance. 

Provide bulk water supply service support functions including legal, 
General Manager financial and commercial services. Align corporate services to business 

Corporate Services requirements. Manage and report on corporate performance. Manage 
corporate assets including property, fleet and facilities. 

Establish strategies and systems for human resource, health and safety. 
General Manager Provide human resource, health and safety leadership including 
People, Culture & recruitment, training, investigations, standards, and assurance. Lead 

Safety culture development, organisational change management and employee 
engagement. 

Set and implement the strategy and framework for planning and delivery 

General Manager 
of the Entity's high value capital projects across the bulk water supply 
network. 

Major Projects Through dynamic multidisciplinary teams plan and deliver large-scale 
capital projects. 

Develop and implement the Entity's strategic technology framework to 
General Manager maximise the value of technology related business investments that assist 
Digital Technology the Entity to achieve corporate and operational goals. Implement energy 

Information management systems and technologies. Support the development of new 
technologies that deliver efficiency and connectivity. 

Work directly with customers to manage service delivery, service 
regulation and water supply planning. Undertake research, regional and 

General Manager local area planning with a focus on water security. Manage pricing and 

Customer, Strategy regulatory frameworks. 

& Planning Develop and manage strategic direction, corporate planning, stakeholder 
engagement, community engagement, communications and education. 
Coordinate strategic relationships. 

Carry out corporate administration of the Entity with a focus on 

General Counsel and 
compliance to statutory and regulatory requirements. Align and report on 
requirements of the Board including internal audit, governance and 

Company Secretary control, fraud and corruption. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E1 Key management personnel (KMP) disclosures (continued) 

Key executive management remuneration policies 

Remuneration policy for the Entity's key executive management is managed by the Board under the 
direction set by the Responsible Ministers as provided for under the State Water Authorities - Governance 
Arrangements for Chief and Senior Executives. The remuneration and other terms of employment for the 
key executive management personnel are specified in employment contracts. The contracts provide for 
the provision of performance related cash bonuses and other benefits including car parking. 

Remuneration expenses for key executive management personnel comprise the following components: 

• short-term employee expenses which include: 

salary, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year, or 
for the part of the year during which the employee was a key management person; 
performance payments recognised as an expense during the year; and 
non-monetary benefits - consisting of provision of a living-away-from-home allowance 
(LAFHA) with fringe benefits tax applicable to the benefit. 

• Long-term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave 
entitlements earned; 

• post employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation 
obligations; 

• termination benefits include payments in lieu of notice on termination and other lump sum 
separation entitlements (excluding annual and long service leave entitlements) payable on 
termination of employment or acceptance of an offer of termination of employment. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E1 Key management personnel (KMP) disclosures (continued) 

Key executive management personnel and remuneration 

1 July 2019 - 30 June 2020 

Short-term employee expenses Post 
Monetary Non- monetary 
expenses benefits 

Position $ $ 

Long-term employee 
expenses A 

$ 

employment 
expenses 

$ 

Termination 
benefits 

$ 

N Brennan - CEO 523,775 

S Cassie - COO 269,498 

R Muir- GM 373,633 

L Bruce· GM 208,496 

M Williams • GM 211,662 

B van Heerden - GM 218,249 

B Linaker - GM 236,995 

W Harpham - GC 197,118 

D Spiller- GM 119,927 

D Gregory - CFO 90,270 

S Frazer- GC 83,513 

L Kearins - GM 58,749 

A Canning - A/GM 78,383 

Total 2,670,268 

N Brennan appointed as CEO on 20 August 2018. 

R Muir appointed as GM on 18 September 2017. 

M Williams appointed as GM on 4 November 2019. 

B Linaker appointed as GM 21 October 2019 

D Spiller appointed as GM on 1 May 2013, left on 4 October 2019. 

11,004 

11,004 

12,019 20,745 

6,322 24,022 

18,035 35,491 

5,024 25,620 

5,132 22,067 

5,262 26,835 

5,496 20,884 

7,647 19,083 

12,954 

11,227 

13,256 

11,181 

9,399 

64,937 252,764 

S Cassie appointed as COO on 11 November 2019. 

L Bruce appointed as GM on 25 November 2019. 

B van Heerden appointed as GM on 4 November 2019. 

W Harpham appointed as GC on 27 September 2019 

116,307 

102,420 

100,239 

101,677 

94,587 

515,230 

D Gregory appointed as CFO on 27 April 2017, left on 4 October 2019 

Total expenses 

$ 

567,543 

299,842 

427,159 

239,140 

238,861 

250,346 

263,375 

223,848 

249,188 

203,917 

197,008 

171,607 

182,369 

3,514,203 

S Frazer appointed as GC on 1 January 2013, left on 26 September 2019. 

A Canning acting as GM from 9 October 2017, left on 20 September 2019. 

L Kearins appointed as GM on 18 September 2017, left on 4 October 2019 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E1 Key management personnel (KMP) disclosures (continued) 

Key executive management personnel and remuneration (continued) 

1 July 2018-30 June 2019 
Short-term employee expenses Long-term Post 

Monetary Non- monetary employee employment 
expenses benefits expenses A expenses 

Position $ $ $ $ 
N Brennan - CEO 411,692 30,913 9,936 18,284 

D Spiller- GM 384,878 22,231 33,101 

D Gregory - CFO 297,858 12,250 24,999 

S Frazer- GC 272,509 9,830 33,619 

L Kearins - GM 277,005 9,182 32,814 
R Muir-GM 282,397 7,553 25,393 

A Canning - A/GM 278,980 23,985 24,972 

Total 2,205,319 30,913 94,967 193,182 

Termination 
benefits 

$ 

A Long-term employee benefits are accrued annually, when an employee leaves or takes long service leave the resulting entry is a reversal. 

Total Expenses 

$ 
470,825 

440,210 

335,107 

315,958 

319,001 
315,343 

327,937 

2,524,381 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E1 Key management personnel (KMP) disclosures (continued) 

Performance payments 

Performance bonuses may be paid or payable annually depending upon satisfaction of key performance 
criteria. The calculation of the cash perfonmance bonuses is as per the Entity's Remuneration Policy. 
Performance payments of key executive management are capped at 15% of total fixed remuneration. The 
amount payable is tied to the achievement of pre-determined Entity and individual performance targets as 
approved by the Board. 

The aggregate amount of performance payments made during the financial year with respect to the 
previous financial year was $147,749 (2019: $98,100). The performance bonus was paid on 11 October 
2019 (2019: 18 September 2018). 

The Board has confirmed that no performance bonuses will be paid for the 2019-20 year in line with the 
Queensland Government COVID-19 guidelines. 

E2 Related party transactions 

Board members' transactions 

Ms Marita Corbett was appointed as a Board member on 13 December 2019. On 28 January 2020 the 
Board appointed Ms Corbett as Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee and Member of the Investment 
and Procurement Committee. Ms Corbell has arranged for her employer, BOO Service Ply Ltd (BOO) to 
invoice the Entity in respect of her Board and Committee remuneration, refer to Note E1-2. BOO provided 
professional and financial advisory services to the Entity, total amount paid $156,688 (2019: $0), and 
commitment at reporting dale is $275,606 (2019: $282,920). Ms Corbell has no involvement in the 
provision of these services. 

Transactions and outstanding balance with State of Queensland controlled entities 

The Entity is controlled by the Queensland Government and as a result there are a significant number of 
interactions with other entities controlled by the same parent. The Entity procures services from a number 
of Queensland Government departments on normal commercial terms. 

The following entities have the same controlling entity as the Entity and therefore are considered to be 
related parties. Transactions with these entities during the year are: 

• QTC, a Queensland Government owned corporation, provided loan debt funding to the Entity under 
normal commercial terms and conditions, refer to Note C7. 

• Queensland Competition Authority (QCA) - investigation and recommendation on the price 
practices as per the Minister's Referral Notice, total amount paid $97,076 (2019: $340,350) and nil 
commitment at reporting dale; 

• Department of State Development, Manufacturing, Infrastructure & Planning - management of 
acquisition of land and easements along pipeline corridor, total amount paid $147,061 (2019: 
$2,120,882) and commitment at reporting dale is $268,748; 

• Department of Housing and Public Works - Lease of premise, total amount paid $4,183,278 (2019: 
$4,065,561), and commitment at reporting date is $3,782,778; and 

• Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy provided Community Service Obligation 
(CSO) payments to the Entity for the provision of rural irrigation water, refer to Note B1-2. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E3 First year application of new accounting standards or change in accounting policy 

AASB 16 Leases 

The Entity applied MSB 16 Leases for the first time in 2019-20. The Entity applied the modified 
retrospective transition method and has not restated comparative information for 2018-19, which continue 
to be reported under MSB 117 Leases and related interpretations. 

The nature and effect of changes resulting from the adoption of MSB 16 are described below. 

1. Definition of a lease 

MSB 16 introduced new guidance on the definition of a lease. 

For leases and lease-like arrangements existing at 30 June 2019, the Entity elected to apply the practical 
expedient to grandfather the previous assessments made under MSB 117 and interpretation 4 
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a lease about whether those contracts contained leases. 
However, arrangements were reassessed under MSB 16 where no formal assessment had been done in 
the past or where lease agreements were modified on 1 July 2019. 

Amendments to former operating leases for office accommodation 

In 2018-19, the Entity held operating leases under MSB 117 from the Department of Housing and Public 
Works (DHPW) for non-specialised commercial office accommodation through the Queensland 
Government Accommodation Office (QGAO). 

Effective 1 July 2019, the framework agreements that govern QGAO were amended with the result that 
theses arrangements would not meet the definition of a lease under MSB 16 and therefore are exempt 
from lease accounting. 

From 2019-20 onward, the costs for these services are expensed as supplies and services expenses 
when incurred. The new accounting treatment is due to a change in the contractual arrangements rather 
than a change in accounting policy. 

2. Changes to lessee accounting 

Previously, the Entity classified its leases as operating or finance leases based on whether the lease 
transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset to the lessee. 

This distinction between operating and finance leases no longer exist for lessee accounting under MSB 
16. From 1 July 2019, all leases, other than short-term leases and low value assets, are now recognised 
on balance sheet as lease liabilities and right-of-use assets. 

Lease liabilities 

Lease liabilities are initially recognised at the present value of lease payments over the lease term that 
are not yet paid. The lease term includes any extension or renewal options that the Entity is reasonably 
certain to exercise. The future lease payments included in the calculation of the lease liability comprise 
the following: 

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable, 

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 
as at the commencement date, 

• amounts expected to be payable by the Entity under residual value guarantees, 

• the exercise price of a purchase option that the Entity is reasonably certain to exercise, and 

• payments for termination penalties, if the lease term reflects the early termination. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E3 First year application of new accounting standards or change in accounting policy 
(continued) 

The discount rate used is the interest rate implicit in the lease, or the Entity's incremental borrowing rate if 
the implicit rate cannot be readily determined. 

Subsequently, the lease liabilities are increased by the interest charge and reduced by the amount of 
lease payments. Lease liabilities are also remeasured in certain situations such as a change in variable 
lease payments that depend on an index or rate (e.g. a market rent review), or a change in the lease 
term. 

Right-of-use assets 

Right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost comprising the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, 

• lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received, 

• initial direct costs incurred, and 

• the initial estimate of restoration costs. 

Right-of-use assets will subsequently give rise to a depreciation expense and are subject to impairment. 

Right-of-use assets differ in substance from leased assets previously recognised under financial leases in 
that the asset represents the intangible right to use the underlying asset rather than the underlying asset 
itself. 

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets 

The Entity has elected to recognise lease payments for short-term leases and leases of low value assets 
are expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term, rather than accounting for them on balance 
sheet. This accounting treatment is similar to that used for operating leases under AASB 117. 

3. Changes to lessor accounting 
Lessor accounting remains largely unchanged under AASB 16. Leases are still classified as either 
operating or finance leases. However, the classification of subleases now references the right-of-use 
asset arising from the head lease, instead of the underlying asset. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E3 First year application of new accounting standards or change in accounting policy 
(continued) 

4. Transitional Impact 
Former operating leases as lessee 

• The majority of the Entity's former operating leases, other than the exempt QGAO arrangements, 
are now recognised on-balance sheet as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. 

• On transition, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments 
discounted at the Entity's incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 2019. 

• The Entity's weighted average incremental borrowing rate on 1 July 2019 was 5.41 %. 

• The right-of-use assets were measured at their carrying amount as if AASB 16 had been applied 
since lease commencement, discounted using the Entity's incremental borrowing rate at 1 July 
2019 - this approach was used for office accommodation lease. 

• New right-of-use assets were tested for impairment on transition and none were found to be 
impaired. 

• On transition, the Entity used practical expedients to: 

o Not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases that end within 12 
months of the date of initial application and leases of low value assets; and 

o Exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use assets. 

The following table summarises the on-transition adjustments to asset and liability balances at 1 July 
2019 in relation to former operating leases. 

Right-of-use assets -Building 

Lease liabilities 

$'000 

5,900 

5,900 

Leases as lessor - No transitional adjustments were required for leases in which the Entity is lessor. 

Accounting standards early adopted 
No Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for 2019-20. 

Accounting standards applied for the first time 
Other than AASB 16 Lease which is detailed above, no accounting standards that apply to the Entity for 
the first time in 2019-20 have any material impact on the financial statements. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

E4 Climate risk disclosure 

The financial statements have been prepared in consideration of climate related risks and associated 
potential impacts on the amounts and disclosures contained therein. Key estimates and judgements have 
been made with reference to the Entity's Climate Change Adaptation Strategy and the Queensland 
Government Climate Adaptation Strategy and Built Environment and Infrastructure Sector Adaptation 
Plan. 

Climate risk assessment 

The Entity acknowledges that the climate is changing and that historic climate conditions are unlikely to 
represent conditions that will be experienced in the future. In recognition of this position, the Entity 
accesses the most up to date, relevant climate change projections applying to operations and operating 
environments (currently Queensland Department of Environment and Science's future climate 
projections). 

In alignment with the Queensland Climate Adaptation Strategy: Built Environment and Infrastructure 
Sector Adaptation Plan, the Entity has assessed the financial impacts relating to operations and cashflow, 
asset values and financing. 

Operations and cashflow 

The Entity's Climate Change Adaptation Strategy acknowledges the need for adaptation activity 
advancement in areas impacting water security, assets and infrastructure, research, communication, 
insurances, emergency management and catchment resilience, with each of these having the potential to 
impact financial resources. 

Under the current regulatory framework, the Entity is able to recover expenditure that is prudent and 
efficient, with specified review events for drought, flood and other emergency responses. Given the 
regulatory ability to recover expenditure for these items, as well as variances in demand, it is palpable 
that any loss of financial resources associated with climate risk is temporary, with no permanent shortfall 
impacting on medium to long-term financial sustainability. 

Asset valuation 

The Entity considers climate change risk in the valuation of assets through the inclusion of drought 
associated scenario overlay, with the drought overlay valuing the impact that drought has on revenue, 
operations and investment. 

At 30 June 2020 the drought overlay probability is 8% and is reflected in current year asset valuation. 

Financing 

The solvency of the Entity is guaranteed by written commitment from the Queensland Government, 
including the provision of funding facilities. 

In the event of climate change related risks transpiring, short-term funding needs will be met under this 
commitment, with medium to long-term requirements met via the pricing recovery mechanisms of the 
regulatory framework. 
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Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 
Management Certificate 

for the year ended 30 June 2020 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the Financial 
Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), section 40 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2019 and 
other prescribed requirements. In accordance with s.62(1 )(b) of the Act we certify that in our opinion: 

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all 
material aspects; and 

b) the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with 
prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2020 and of the financial position at the end of that year. 

We acknowledge responsibility under s. 7 and s.11 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 
2019 for the establishment and maintenance, in all material respects, of an appropriate and effective system of 
internal controls and risk management processes with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting 
period. 

The Hon Dr David Hamill AM 

Chairman 

Signature 

Date 

Neil Brennan 

Chief Executive Officer 

Signature 

Date 

Lee Bruce 

General Manager Corporate 
Services 

Signature 

Date 
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Independent audit report to the Board of Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority

 

 

To the Board of Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Qualified Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority. 

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 

section of my report, the accompanying financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the entity's financial position as at 30 June 2020, and its financial 

performance and cash flows for the year then ended  

b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including summaries of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the management certificate. 

Basis for qualified opinion 

Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority has reported (at Note D3) the litigation in progress 

relating to the 2011 South East Queensland Floods as a contingent liability.  

A judgement was handed down in favour of the plaintiff in November 2019 and apportionment of 

damages in May 2020.  

The apportionment judgement determined that Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority was liable 

for $126,583, representing 50 per cent of the damages owed to the plaintiff. This apportionment 

judgement of liability for 50 per cent of the damages will apply to all group members whose 

members exceed 6,870 and therefore I estimate that the damages for the remaining group 

members is likely to be material.   

The judgement handed down has created an obligating event which supports that it is probable 

that a material future outflow of resources will be required for the remaining group members and 

that an estimate can be determined. Therefore the conditions for the recognition of a provision 

have been met under AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and a 

provision (liability) should have been recognised in the statement of financial position and an 

expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.   

As noted in Note D3, the financial report has been prepared on the basis that a provision amount 

cannot be reliably estimated. For the reasons outlined above, I am of the opinion that the provision 

amount will be material. My measure of materiality for the financial statement audit is $10,600,000.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

my qualified opinion.  

Auditing and professional standards 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 

incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the section of my 

report. 

• Queensland 
• • Audilt Office 

~r,e, [Jirb IC~ 



Essential Water | Seqwater Annual Report 2019–20 93

 

 

To the Board of Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Qualified Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority. 

In my opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 

section of my report, the accompanying financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the entity's financial position as at 30 June 2020, and its financial 

performance and cash flows for the year then ended  

b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including summaries of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the management certificate. 

Basis for qualified opinion 

Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority has reported (at Note D3) the litigation in progress 

relating to the 2011 South East Queensland Floods as a contingent liability.  

A judgement was handed down in favour of the plaintiff in November 2019 and apportionment of 

damages in May 2020.  

The apportionment judgement determined that Queensland Bulk Water Supply Authority was liable 

for $126,583, representing 50 per cent of the damages owed to the plaintiff. This apportionment 

judgement of liability for 50 per cent of the damages will apply to all group members whose 

members exceed 6,870 and therefore I estimate that the damages for the remaining group 

members is likely to be material.   

The judgement handed down has created an obligating event which supports that it is probable 

that a material future outflow of resources will be required for the remaining group members and 

that an estimate can be determined. Therefore the conditions for the recognition of a provision 

have been met under AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and a 

provision (liability) should have been recognised in the statement of financial position and an 

expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.   

As noted in Note D3, the financial report has been prepared on the basis that a provision amount 

cannot be reliably estimated. For the reasons outlined above, I am of the opinion that the provision 

amount will be material. My measure of materiality for the financial statement audit is $10,600,000.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

my qualified opinion.  

Auditing and professional standards 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 

incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the section of my 

report. 

 

I am independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 

����������������������������������������������������Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have also 

fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code and the Auditor-General 

Auditing Standards.  

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most significance 

in my audit of the financial report of the current period. I addressed these matters in the context of 

my audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide 

a separate opinion on these matters. 

In addition to the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, I have determined the 

matters described below to be the key audit matters to communicate in my report. 

Valuation of property, plant and equipment (infrastructure assets) 

Refer to Note C3-7 of the financial statements. 

Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter 

Management has estimated the fair value of 
�������������infrastructure assets to be 
$10.3b as at 30 June 2020. The fair value 
measurement is based on an estimation of 
future cash flows discounted to a present 
value. 

The valuations are dependent on certain 
key assumptions that require significant 
management judgement including the 
following in respect of:  

• Demand: estimation of long term 
population growth and consumption 
rates.  

• Discount rate: a nominal post-tax 
discount rate reflecting what a market 
participant would use. 

• Capital expenditure: estimating future 
capital required to meet demand, 
comply with legislative obligations and 
maintain service levels. 

• Bulk water pricing: uncertainly of price 
structure post 2028 and the use of 
weighted pricing scenarios.  

• Terminal value: a projected regulatory 
asset base value to compute the 
terminal value. 

My procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the discounted 
cash flow model, and assessing its design, 
integrity and appropriateness with reference to 
common industry practices. 

• Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and 
relevance of the input data used, including by 
reconciling input data to supporting evidence such 
as approved budgets.  

• Assessing the reasonableness of cash flow 
forecasts and terminal value estimates relative to 
the regulator-approved determination, board 
approved budgets, historical growth trends, long-
term asset management plans and other relevant 
internal and external evidence. The 
reasonableness of board approved budgets was 
assessed with reference to their historical 
accuracy and the budget preparation process.  

• Evaluating whether the discount rate applied was 
within a reasonable range, with reference to 
market data and industry research.  

• Challenging the reasonableness of key 
assumptions based on our knowledge of the entity 
and industry. 

• Performing a sensitivity analysis to assist in 
considering the potential impact of reasonably 
possible changes (downside/upside) in these key 
assumptions. 

• Verifying the mathematical accuracy of the net 
present value calculations. 

 

  

• Queensland 
• • Audit Office 
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Useful lives estimated for depreciation expense 

Refer to Note C3-4 of the financial statements. 

Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter 

The straight-line depreciation method used 
required significant judgements for: 

• Identifying the significant parts of 
infrastructure that have different useful 
lives 

• Forecasting the remaining useful lives 
of those significant parts. 

 

 

My procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• �������������������������������������������������
the parts of infrastructure that have different useful 
lives, having regard to recent replacement projects 
and long-term asset management plans. 

• Evaluating remaining useful life estimates for 
reasonableness �������������������������������
documented assessments, historical disposal 
rates, condition assessments for older assets, and 
long-term asset management plans and budgets. 

Responsibilities of the entity for the financial report 

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 

accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2019 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as 

the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The Board is also responsible for assessing the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless it is intended to abolish the entity or to otherwise cease operations.  

financial report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 

������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

· Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control. 

· Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. This is not done for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls, but allows me to 

express an opinion on compliance with prescribed requirements. 

· Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the entity. 
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· Conclude on the appropriateness of the entity's use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a 

going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention 

are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my conclusions on the audit evidence obtained 

events or conditions may cause the 

entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

· Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I 

identify during my audit. 

From the matters communicated with the Board, I determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. I describe these 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, I determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in my report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  

Statement 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2020: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required. 

b) I consider that, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping of 

accounts were complied with in all material respects. 

Prescribed requirements scope 

The prescribed requirements for the establishment and keeping of accounts are contained in the 

Financial Accountability Act 2009, any other Act and the Financial and Performance Management 

Standard 2019. The applicable requirements include those for keeping financial records that 

preparation of a true and fair financial report. 

 

17 August 2020 

 

Brendan Worrall Queensland Audit Office 
Auditor-General Brisbane 
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Compliance checklist

Summary of requirement Basis for 
requirement

Annual report 
reference

Letter of compliance A letter of compliance from the accountable officer or 
statutory body to the relevant Minister/s

ARRs – section 7 Page 1

Accessibility • Table of contents

• Glossary

ARRs – section 9.1 Page 3 

Page 99

• Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 Page 2

• Interpreter service statement Queensland Government 

Language Services Policy

ARRs – section 9.3

Page 2

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968

ARRs – section 9.4

Page 2

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information 

Licensing 

ARRs – section 9.5

n/a

General information • Introductory information ARRs – section 10.1 Page 4

• Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 Page 4

• Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 Page 5

Non-financial performance • Government’s objectives for the community ARRs – section 11.1 Page 4

• Other whole-of-government plans / specific initiatives ARRs – section 11.2 n/a

• Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs – section 11.3 Pages 5, 9

• Agency service areas and service standards ARRs – section 11.4 Page 4

Financial performance • Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 Page 12

Governance – management and 

structure

• Organisational structure ARRs – section 13.1 Page 14

• Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 Page 15

• Government bodies (statutory bodies and other entities) ARRs – section 13.3 Page 21

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 

1994

ARRs – section 13.4

Page 23

• Queensland public service values ARRs – section 13.5 n/a

Governance – risk management 

and accountability

• Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 Page 24

• Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 Pages 19

• Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 Page 23

• External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 Page 26

• Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 14.5 Page 27

Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies compliance checklist
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Summary of requirement Basis for 
requirement

Annual report 
reference

Governance – human resources • Workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 Page 27

• Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment Directive No.11/12 Early 

Retirement, Redundancy 

and Retrenchment

Directive No. 16/16 Early 

Retirement, Redundancy 

and Retrenchment (from 20 

May 2016)

ARRs – section 15.2

n/a

Open data • Statement advising publication of information ARRs  –  section 16 Page 28

• Consultancies ARRs – section 33.1 https://data.qld.gov.au

• Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 https://data.qld.gov.au

• Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 https://data.qld.gov.au

Financial statements • Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62

FPMS – sections 42, 43 

and 50

ARRs – section 17.1

Page 91

• Independent Auditor’s Report FAA – section 62

FPMS – section 50

ARRs – section 17.2

Pages 92

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009
FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009
ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
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A/GM  Acting General Manager

AASB  Australian Accounting Standards Board

APESMA Association of Professional Engineers, Scientists and Managers, Australia

APMP  Asset Portfolio Master Plan

ARR  Annual Report Requirements

ASX  Australian Securities Exchange

ATO  Australian Taxation Office

CEO  Chief Executive Officer

CFO  Chief Financial Officer

CGU  Cost Generating Unit

COO  Chief Operating Officer

CSO  Community Service Obligation

DHPW  Department of Housing and Public Works

DNRME  Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy

DR(s)  Distributor Retailers

DTA  Deferred Tax Asset

EBIT  Earnings Before Interest and Tax

EBITDA  Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation

eDRMS  electronic Document and Records Management System

FFO  Funds from Operations

FTE  Full Time Equivalent 

FY  Financial Year

GC  General Counsel

GM  General Manager

GST  Goods and Services Tax

Hon.  The Honourable

Glossary
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HR  Human Resources

ICT  Information Communication Technology

KMP  Key Management Personnel

KPI  Key Performance Indicator

LAFHA  Living away from home allowance 

LTIFR  Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

MAR  Maximum Allowed Revenue

ML  Megalitres (Million litres)

MP  Member of Parliament

NPAT  Net Profit After Tax

NTER  National Tax Equivalent Regime

QAO  Queensland Audit Office

QCA  Queensland Competition Authority

QGAO  Queensland Government Accommodtion Office

QTC  Queensland Treasury Corporation

SBFA  Statutory Bodies Financial Act 1982

SEQ  South East Queensland

WACC  Weighted Average Cost of Capital
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117 Brisbane St, Ipswich QLD 4305 | PO Box 328 Ipswich QLD 4305

communications@seqwater.com.au | seqwater.com.au

facebook.com/seqwater | twitter.com/seqwater |  instagram #seqwater

 Call 1300 737 928
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